# Western University Scholarship@Western

**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

2-19-2013 12:00 AM

# What Shapes Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for Community Patients at End of Life?

Joshua D. Shadd, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Moira Stewart, *The University of Western Ontario* Joint Supervisor: Dr. Amardeep Thind, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Clinical Science degree in Family Medicine © Joshua D. Shadd 2013

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Primary Care Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Shadd, Joshua D., "What Shapes Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for Community Patients at End of Life?" (2013). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1127. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1127

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### WHAT SHAPES FAMILY PHYSICIANS' PATTERNS OF CARE FOR COMMUNITY PATIENTS AT END OF LIFE?

Spine title: Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for End of Life Patients

Thesis format: Integrated Article

by

Joshua David Shadd

Graduate Program in Family Medicine

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Clinical Science in Family Medicine

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Joshua David Shadd, 2013

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

### CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Joint Supervisors

Examiners

Dr. Moira Stewart

Dr. Judith Belle Brown

Dr. Amardeep Thind

Dr. Sonny Cejic

Dr. Jeff Myers

The thesis by

# Joshua David Shadd

entitled:

# What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life?

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Clinical Science in Family Medicine

Date

Dr. Graham Reid Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

## Abstract

Family physicians (FPs) care for the majority of community patients approaching end of life. Variations among FPs in care activities for these patients have potential implications for equitable access to care. This thesis used mixed methods to explore how FPs in southwestern Ontario, Canada care for these patients, and what shapes the variations. In the primary study, using grounded theory based on in-depth interviews, FPs described differing in the timing, location and purpose of their activities. These variations were shaped by a process of 'making it fit', in which FPs weighed the implications of choices in their unique contexts. In the second study, a secondary analysis of family physician survey data, FPs reported differences in their potential availability to provide care to community patients at end of life. Attitude toward FP participation in palliative care at home and remuneration by alternate funding plan were both strongly associated with potential availability.

# Keywords

Family medicine, end of life care, community-based case, mixed methods, grounded theory

# **Co-Authorship Statement**

This thesis and the studies it describes were conceived, planned and carried out by the author. In the qualitative study, all data collection was by the author, with analysis conducted jointly with Dr. Moira Stewart. In the quantitative study, all data analysis was by the author, with statistical advice provided by Dr. Stewart and Dr. Amardeep Thind. The thesis manuscript was written solely by the author, with editorial revisions suggested by Drs. Stewart and Thind.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the many individuals who made possible the work of this thesis:

Dr. Moira Stewart for her support and guidance in the qualitative analysis.

Dr. Amardeep Thind for his statistical advice and valued feedback.

Each of the family physicians who offered their time and insights for the qualitative study.

The Department of Family Medicine Research Trust Fund for supporting costs of the qualitative study.

The research team for the 2004 Changing Face of Family Medicine survey, whose work made possible the quantitative study for this thesis.

Most of all, I wish to thank my wife, Averil, for her gracious patience and never-ending encouragement.

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATIONii
Abstractiii
Co-Authorship Statementiv
Acknowledgmentsv
Table of Contents vi
List of Tablesxi
List of Figuresxii
List of Appendicesxiii
Chapter 1 1
1 Studying Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for Community Patients at End of Life
1.1 Thesis Overview
1.2 The terminology of end of life care
1.3 Family physicians and community-based end of life care
1.3.1 The need for community-based end of life care
1.3.2 Family physician provision of community-based end of life care
1.4 Research aim
1.5 Methodologic approach
1.5.1 Premises embedded in the research question
1.5.2 Mixed methods
1.5.3 Grounded theory and the literature review
1.6 References

# Table of Contents

Cł	Chapter 2			
2	What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life? A grounded theory study			15
	2.1 Introduction			15
		2.1.1	Background	15
		2.1.2	Research questions	16
		2.1.3	Selection of methodology	16
	2.2	Metho	ds	18
		2.2.1	Design	18
		2.2.2	Sampling and recruitment	18
		2.2.3	Data collection	19
		2.2.4	Analysis	19
	2.3	Findin	gs	20
		2.3.1	Sample	20
		2.3.2	Different patterns of care	21
		2.3.3	How different patterns of care are shaped	24
	2.4	Discus	sion	34
		2.4.1	Statement of Reflexivity	34
		2.4.2	Key findings	35
		2.4.3	Relationship of findings to the published literature	36
		2.4.4	Implications of the findings	43
		2.4.5	Limitations	44
		2.4.6	Call for further research	44
		2.4.7	Conclusions	45
	2.5	Refere	nces	45

Chapter 3				
3	Family physicians' availability to care for community patients at end of life: A secondary analysis of family physician survey data			55
	3.1	Introd	uction	55
		3.1.1	Background	55
		3.1.2	Research question	56
	3.2	Metho	ds	57
		3.2.1	Study design and sample	57
		3.2.2	Variables	57
		3.2.3	Analysis	58
		3.2.4	Power calculation and missing values analysis	58
	3.3	Result	S	58
		3.3.1	Study sample	58
		3.3.2	Potential availability	59
	3.4	Discus	ssion	64
		3.4.1	Principal results	64
		3.4.2	Interpretation	65
		3.4.3	Implications of the results	67
		3.4.4	Limitations	68
		3.4.5	Call for further research	70
		3.4.6	Conclusions	70
	3.5	Refere	ences	71
C	hapte	er 4		76
4	Syn	thesis .		76
	4.1	Aim o	f the research	76
	4.2	Review	w of main findings	76

	4.2.1	Qualitative study	. 76
	4.2.2	Quantitative study	. 77
4.3	How d	o each study's findings inform the other?	. 78
	4.3.1	Influence of mixed methodology on study design and analysis	. 78
	4.3.2	How do the quantitative results inform our interpretation of the qualitative findings?	. 78
	4.3.3	How do the qualitative findings inform our interpretation of the quantitative results?	. 79
4.4	Implic	ations for practice	. 80
	4.4.1	There is no clear standard of care. Should there be?	. 80
	4.4.2	Palliative medicine must function in both primary and consultant roles.	. 81
	4.4.3	System design changes have ripple effects, some unanticipated	. 81
4.5	Implic	ations for research: Principles for future research on this topic	. 82
	4.5.1	Avoid the pitfall of polysemy	. 82
	4.5.2	Measure the impact of physician practice patterns on patient outcomes.	. 83
	4.5.3	Consider the perspective of complexity theory	. 84
4.6	Summ	ary	. 84
4.7	Refere	nces	. 85
Appen	dices		. 88
Apj	pendix A	A: REB approval for qualitative study	. 88
App	pendix l	B: Semi-structured interview guide	. 90
Арј	pendix ( patient	C: Participant family physicians' patterns of activities for community as at end of life	. 92
Apj	pendix l	D: Literature search strategies and results	101
Apj	pendix l	E: REB approval for quantitative study	102
Apj	pendix l	F: Variable definitions	103

Appendix G: Power calculation	
Appendix H: Missing data analysis	
Curriculum Vitae	

# List of Tables

Table 3-1: Characteristics of the sample	.61
Table 3-2: Bivariable analysis results	.62
Table 3-3: Multinomial logit results – low vs. moderate potential availability family       physicians	.63
Table 3-4: Multinomial logit results – high vs. moderate potential availability family	
physicians	.64

# List of Figures

Figure 2-1: Dimensions of family physicians' patterns of activity for community patients
at end of life21
Figure 2-2: Family physicians' patterns of activities for community patients at end of
life 23
Figure 2-3: Making it fit
Figure 3-1: Identification of the study sample 50
rigure 5-1. Identification of the study sample
Figure 3-2: Categories of potential availability to care for community patients at end of
life60

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: REB approval for qualitative study
Appendix B: Semi-structured interview guide90
Appendix C: Participant family physicians' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life
Appendix D: Literature search strategies and results101
Appendix E: REB approval for quantitative study102
Appendix F: Variable definitions103
Appendix G: Power calculation106
Appendix H: Missing data analysis107

# Chapter 1

# 1 Studying Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for Community Patients at End of Life

# 1.1 Thesis Overview

This thesis explores the variety of ways in which family physicians in southwestern Ontario, Canada organize their care activities for community-dwelling patients who are approaching end of life, and what shapes this variation.

Chapter one articulates the context for the research studies by providing an introduction to the topic, a summary of key literature, and an overview of methodologic approach.

Chapter two describes this thesis' primary research project: a grounded theory study based on in-depth interviews with family physicians describing a spectrum of patterns of care for community patients at end of life, and the influences that have shaped those particular patterns.

Chapter three describes a related study reporting a secondary analysis of survey data to examine family physicians' self-reported availability to provide medical care to community patients at end of life.

Chapter four then seeks to integrate the findings of these two studies, and suggests elements of a program of research to further explore this topic.

# 1.2 The terminology of end of life care

Death is not an easy subject. Using indirect language (alternative terms, metaphors, euphemisms) is a common strategy people use when dealing with difficult subjects. While indirect language may have an important social role to play, it is not necessarily helpful for clarifying meaning or deepening understanding.

In health care, we have our own indirect language for discussing the care of the dying. We provide palliative care, or hospice care, or end of life care, or supportive care, or terminal care to patients with life-threatening, or life-limiting, or progressive, or advanced, or incurable illnesses.

In Canada, the most widely used terminology is 'palliative care'. Derived from the Latin *palliare*, meaning to cloak or cover, the phrase was coined in the 1970s by Dr. Balfour Mount, a Montreal urologist who wanted to find a term that worked well in both French and English. Palliative care has since become the internationally accepted idiom for care focused on quality, rather than quantity, of life.

However, the phrase 'palliative care' shares some of the weaknesses of indirect language. It is a rich term, but not a precise one. Palliative care is a polyseme; a word with multiple, related, contextually-dependent meanings. One cannot be sure of a polyseme's intended meaning without understanding the context in which the word is used.

The term 'palliative care' is commonly used with at least four different meanings. First, it may refer to any care given in the absence of curative expectations. In this usage, 'palliative care' stands in contrast to 'curative care' (e.g. 'palliative' instead of 'curative' chemotherapy). Second, palliative care may be used synonymously with end of life care, referring to any care given in the final stage of life. Third, it may refer specifically to care provided in a manner consistent with the principles of hospice palliative care, emphasizing open communication, patient-centred decision making and quality of life<sup>\*</sup>. Fourth, the term is used to refer specifically to those specialized healthcare providers whose work is focused exclusively on this patient population.

The subject of this thesis is <u>not</u> palliative care, *per se*. The focus was not on the intent of care given, as in the first and third definitions above, nor on care given early in the trajectories of incurable illnesses, nor the role of specialized providers of palliative

In this third usage of the term, the criterion is the philosophy of care rather than the timing. Palliative care, when used in this sense, need not be restricted to the end of life, and may be appropriate at any stage of a potentially life-limiting illness, including simultaneously with curative-intent interventions. Conversely, not all care at end of life is necessarily palliative care (by this third definition). Treatments administered even on the last day of life are 'palliative' only when offered in a manner consistent with the philosophy and principles of palliative care.

medicine. The goal of this thesis project was simply to explore how family physicians organize care for one segment of their patient population: community patients approaching end of life. For this reason, this thesis will use the term 'end of life care' where possible and appropriate. Where the phrase 'palliative care' appears, it is used advisedly and is not assumed to be synonymous with end of life care.

# 1.3 Family physicians and community-based end of life care

#### 1.3.1 The need for community-based end of life care

With our aging population comes an increasing number of deaths. Population projections from Statistics Canada forecast a steadily growing annual number of deaths for the next forty years, with a plateau being reached after 2050 at a number approximately double our current annual rate<sup>1</sup>.

The need for community-based services is compounded by the trend toward deinstitutionalization of end of life care. In Canada, the proportion of deaths which occurred in hospital rose steadily throughout most of the 20th century, peaking in the mid-1990s at  $80.5\%^2$ . The trend has since reversed sharply, and by 2004 the proportion of hospital deaths in Canada fell to  $60.6\%^3$ . Health system planners continue seeking to increase the proportion of deaths which occur in the community both because homebased care at end of life is less costly than hospital-based care<sup>4-6</sup>, and because most patients tell us that home is their preferred location for end of life care<sup>7-11</sup>.

#### 1.3.2 Family physician provision of community-based end of life care

In Canada, family physicians<sup>†</sup> are responsible for the primary medical care of the vast majority patients in the community<sup>12</sup>. Even (perhaps especially) for patients dealing with complex illnesses requiring hospitalizations and specialist visits, such as congestive heart

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Throughout the thesis, 'family physician' will refer both to general practitioners and certificants of the College of Family Physicians of Canada.

failure or cancer, family physicians remain central to their care and provide the bulk of medical services<sup>13,14</sup>.

Family physician participation in community-based end of life care is consistent with the principles and philosophy of family medicine<sup>15-19</sup>. Family physicians frequently describe their participation in community-based end of life care as important, valuable, and professionally rewarding<sup>20-25</sup>. More importantly, patients want their family physicians to be involved in their end of life care<sup>26-31</sup>. Family physician participation in community end of life care also impacts patient outcomes. Family physician engagement reduces emergency room usage<sup>32</sup>, reduces transitions between care settings<sup>33</sup>, and greatly increases the likelihood of achieving a home death<sup>34-38</sup>. For all of these reasons, provincial and national policy leaders have embraced a vision of community-based end of life care which is built upon a foundation of family physician provision<sup>39-42</sup>.

But family physician participation in community-based end of life care is not universal. In the 2010 National Physician Survey, only 45.7% of family physician respondents reported providing palliative medicine to their patients<sup>43</sup>. The proportion of family physicians who report participating in palliative care varies in other surveys. In Quebec City, Canada 62% and in Sydney, Australia 75% of family physicians describe providing at least some palliative care<sup>44,45</sup>.

Interpretation and comparison of these figures is made difficult, however, by at least two important factors. First, these surveys do not distinguish family physician respondents who practice solely in specific areas (such as sports medicine or emergency medicine) where they are unlikely to have primary responsibility for the care of community patients at end of life. Second, we do not know precisely what either the surveyors or respondents intended with the use of the term palliative care. As used in the surveys, did 'palliative care' simply mean providing medical care to people with incurable illnesses? Did it imply the provision of house calls? Was intent of care important? It is likely that the term would be interpreted variously by respondents, making it difficult to know exactly what care they were or were not claiming to provide.

Regardless of some of the difficulties in interpretation, results from these surveys clearly suggest that engagement in the provision of medical care for community patients at end of life varies among family physicians. The observation begs the questions: how does care of this patient population vary among family physicians, and why?

#### 1.4 Research aim

The goal of this thesis was to explore the variations that exist among family physicians in the way that they organize provision of care for community-dwelling patients approaching the end of life. In Canada, family physicians are independent professionals with wide latitude to arrange their practices as they see fit to provide care for their patients. Each family physician has habits, strategies, processes and procedures which they use to arrange their activities. These organizing strategies may be formal or informal, malleable or inflexible, but together they constitute the *pattern* by which that family physician provides care to his or her patients.

The phrase 'physician patterns of care' has been used variously in the research literature. Sometimes it refers to a physician's proclivity to make a particular therapeutic choice in a specific clinical situation<sup>46,47</sup>. Alternatively, it has been used to describe the collective behaviour of groups of physicians<sup>48,49</sup>. Neither of these represent the meaning with which the phrase is used in this thesis. In this thesis, the phrase '*patterns of care*' refers to the manner in which individual family physicians organize the activities by which they care for his or her practice population.

Variations among family physicians in how they organize the care of community patients at end of life (i.e. variations in their patterns of care) may have implications for access to care, quality of care, care costs or patients' experience of the health care system. Understanding the nature of these variations is the first step to determining their potential significance. This thesis' research question was: what shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life?

## 1.5 Methodologic approach

#### 1.5.1 Premises embedded in the research question

The starting point for this enquiry was the premise that family physicians' patterns of care must be understood at both the individual level and the system level. Family physicians are independent professionals with wide latitude in how they provide care for their patients. Each family physician makes his or her own individual decisions about who their patients are, and when, where and how to provide care for these patients. To understand variations in patterns of care, we need to explore differences at the level of individual family physicians. Stange et al, in their taxonomy of family medicine enquiry, would call this the 'inner, individual' perspective<sup>50</sup>.

However, family physicians do not operate in isolation from the broader health care system. The scope, timing, and quality of care provided by family physicians are likely to have implications for other components of the health care system. Family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life are also important to the system – what Stange et al would call the 'outer, collective'<sup>50</sup>. A rich understanding thus seeks to incorporate both individual and system-level perspectives.

A second premise embedded in the methodologic approach used in this thesis is the belief that an open, exploratory posture is required. There is some literature on this topic, but it is not sufficiently developed to provide adequate context for narrowly-focused research questions. The current need is for research designed to generate hypotheses and propose theories in order to inform subsequent outcome-oriented studies.

#### 1.5.2 Mixed methods

A mixed methods approach is well-suited to this thesis' research question. By thoughtfully utilizing distinct qualitative and quantitative lenses to explore a common topic using separate data sources, mixed methods studies have the potential to bridge Stange's different 'ways of knowing'. Insights gained through the qualitative lens may shed new light on our interpretation of the quantitative results, or *vice versa*. In mixed

methods research, findings from one methodology may confirm, extend, or contextualize the findings from another. Mixed methods have the potential to increase the depth of understanding of results, and overcome some of the limitations of each method alone<sup>51-53</sup>.

The research question for this thesis (What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life?) was framed in a manner intended to reflect both an exploratory posture, and an openness to multiple methodologies. A mixed method approach was facilitated by access to an existing database containing family physicians' responses to a survey which included items relevant to the research question. A feasible mixed methods design was thus possible based on the collection of new qualitative data supplemented by secondary analysis of existing quantitative (survey) data.

Under the broad umbrella of 'mixed methods studies' reside a spectrum of methodological combinations suited to a variety of purposes. According to Creswell<sup>51</sup>, the assortment of mixed methodology can be categorized by four characteristics: implementation sequence (the chronologic order in which study components were conducted), priority of methodologies (the relative weighting of findings from different study components to the conclusions of the study as a whole), level of integration (the stage of design or interpretation at which the methodologies are brought together), and theoretical perspective (referring to the underlying assumptions of the researcher).

According to Creswell's taxonomy, this thesis describes a mixed methods study with simultaneous implementation, qualitative-dominant priority, integration at the level of interpretation, and a constructivist theoretical perspective.

#### Simultaneous Implementation

A simultaneous implementation mixed methods study is one in which both components are undertaken concurrently. Neither part of the study is dependent on progress in the other and both halves proceed in parallel.

#### Qualitative-Dominant

Mixed methods studies may be designed with one primary and one secondary method, or with both halves considered to be of equal importance. Of the two portions of this thesis, the qualitative study (grounded theory based on in-depth interviews with family physicians) was considered primary. It was expected that the qualitative study would provide the greatest insights into the research question. The quantitative study (secondary analysis of family physician survey data) was expected to offer separate insights into the same topic, less rich in scope though still important to the project as a whole.

#### Integration at the Level of Interpretation

While both of the studies which comprise this thesis address the same research aim, the two were treated as separate studies with respect to their specific research questions, data collection and data analysis. Integration of insights from the two studies occurred primarily at the stage of interpretation, only after data collection and analysis for each study had been completed. One noteworthy adjustment was made to the quantitative study on the basis of preliminary qualitative findings. This is discussed in the thesis' fourth chapter.

#### Constructivist Theoretical Perspective

The constructivist theoretical perspective<sup>‡</sup> emphasizes that an understanding of people's interactions with the world is not achieved by discovering facts, but by articulating shared insights. Each person perceives the world and its events through the lens of their own age, gender, beliefs, cultural touchstones, and lived experiences. The research participants and the researcher (who comes with his or her own lens) interact with one another using shared symbols in the form of language (symbolic interactionism)<sup>54</sup>. The result is the development (or construction) of a shared understanding. Knowledge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> The content of this paragraph draws upon multiple sources including Charmaz<sup>54</sup>, Corbin & Strauss<sup>55</sup>, Miller & Crabtree<sup>56</sup>, and Richards & Morse<sup>52</sup>.

generation, from a constructivist perspective, is not a matter of simple discovery; it is a process of co-creation.

"...concepts and theories are *constructed* by researchers out of stories that are constructed by research participants who are trying to explain and make sense out of their experiences and/or lives, both to the researcher and themselves. Out of these multiple constructions, analysts construct something that they call knowledge." (Corbin & Strauss<sup>55</sup>, page 10)

#### 1.5.3 Grounded theory and the literature review

The specific methodology adopted for the qualitative portion of this thesis was constructivist grounded theory<sup>54</sup>. The details of this method, and the rationale for its selection, are outlined in the next chapter. One of the principles of classical grounded theory as first described by Glaser and Strauss<sup>57</sup>, is that the literature review should be conducted only <u>after</u> completion of the analysis. Glaser and Strauss felt that achieving novel insights would be less likely if the analyst were unduly influenced by other authors' work. Modern grounded theorists recognize the value of familiarity with the literature at the outset of a grounded theory study, and so the proscription against the pre-project literature review is not as strong as it once was. However for this thesis we chose to follow the classical approach to this aspect of the methodology; the formal literature review was conducted after the completion of the grounded theory analysis. The description of the literature review and its results are found in the discussion section of the qualitative chapter of the thesis.

### 1.6 References

- Statistics Canada. Population projections for Canada, provinces and territories, 2009-2036. Catalogue no., 91-520-X. Available at <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/91-520-x/91-520-x2010001-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed November 10, 2012.
- 2. Wilson DM, Northcott HC, Truman CD, Smith SL, Anderson MC, Fainsinger RL, et al. Location of death in Canada: a comparison of 20th-century hospital and nonhospital locations of death and corresponding population trends. Evaluation & the Health Professions. 2001; 24(4), 385–403.

- Wilson DM, Truman CD, Thomas R, Fainsinger R, Kovacs-Burns K, Froggatt K, Justice C. The rapidly changing location of death in Canada, 1994-2004. Social Science & Medicine. 2009; 68: 1752-8.
- Fassbender K, Fainsinger RL, Carson M, Finegan BA. Cost trajectories at end of life: the Canadian experience. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2009; 38(1): 75-80.
- 5. Dumont S, Jacobs P, Turcotte V, Anderson D, Harel F. The trajectory of palliative care costs over the last 5 months of life: a Canadian longitudinal study. Palliative Medicine. 2010; 24(6): 630-40.
- 6. Meier DE. Increased access to palliative care and hospice services: Opportunities to improve value in health care. The Millbank Quarterly. 2011; 89(3): 343-80.
- 7. Higginson IJ, Sen-Gupta GJ. Place of care in advanced cancer: a qualitative systematic literature review of patient preferences. Journal of Palliative Medicine 2000; 3: 287–300.
- 8. Brazil K, Bedard M, Willison K. Factors associated with home death for individuals who receive home support services: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Palliative Care. 2002; 1: 2.
- 9. Brazil K, Howell D, Bedard M, Krueger P, Heidebrecht C. Preferences for place of care and place of death among informal caregivers of the terminally ill. Palliative Medicine. 2005; 19(6): 492–9.
- 10. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Health care use at the end of life in Western Canada. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Institute for Health Information; 2007.
- 11. Stajduhar KI, Allan DE, Cohen SR, Heyland DK. Preferences for location of death of seriously ill hospitalized patients: perspectives from Canadian patients and their family caregivers. Palliative Medicine. 2008; 22(1): 85–88.
- Manuel DG, Maaten S, Thiruchelvam D, Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R. Primary care in the health care system. In: Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R, Klein-Geltink J, Leong A, Maaten S, Schultz S, Wang L, editors. Primary care in Ontario: ICES Atlas. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2006.
- 13. Tu K, Gong Y, Maaten S. Physician care of patients with congestive heart failure. In: Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R, Klein-Geltink J, Leong A, Maaten S, Schultz S, Wang L, editors. Primary care in Ontario: ICES Atlas. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2006.
- 14. Del Guidice L, Bondy SJ, Chen Z, Maaten S. Physician care of cancer patients. In: Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R, Klein-Geltink J, Leong A, Maaten S, Schultz S, Wang L, editors. Primary care in Ontario: ICES Atlas. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2006.

- 15. Longhurst MF. Dying and the family physician. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1981; 124: 552-4.
- 16. Gwinn RB. Family physicians should be experts in palliative care. American Family Physician. 2000; 61(3): 636-42.
- 17. Lehmann F, Daneault S. Palliative care: first and foremost the domain of family physicians. Canadian Family Physician. 2006; 52: 417-8.
- College of Family Physicians of Canada. Standards for Accreditation of Residency Training Programs. College of Family Physicians of Canada. Mississauga, ON; 2006.
- 19. Gulland A. GPs and nurses launch end of life care charter. British Medical Journal. 2011; 342: d3415.
- Brown JB, Sangster M, Swift J. Factors influencing palliative care: qualitative study of family physicians' practices. Canadian Family Physician. 1998; 44: 1028-34.
- 21. Field D. Special not different: general practioners' accounts of their care of dying people. Social Science and Medicine. 1998; 46(9): 1111-20.
- 22. Farber SJ, Egnew TR, Herman-Bertsch JL. Issues in end-of-life care: family practice faculty perceptions. Journal of Family Practice. 1999; 49: 525-30.
- Lloyd-Williams M, Wilkinson C, Lloyd-William F. General practitioners in North Wales: current experiences of palliative care. European Journal of Cancer Care. 2000; 9: 138-43.
- 24. Burge F, McIntyre P, Twohig P, Cummings I, Kaufman D, Frager G, Pollett A. Palliative care by family physicians in the 1990s: resilience amid reform. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 1989-95.
- Johansen M, Holtedahl KA, Rudebeck CE. A doctor close at hand: How GPs view their role in cancer care. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2010; 28: 249–55.
- 26. Charlton RC. Attitudes toward care of the dying: a questionnaire survey of general practice attenders. Family Practice. 1991; 8: 356-9.
- 27. Bruera E, Neumann CM, Gagnon B, Brenneis C, Kneisler P, Selmser P, et al. Edmonton regional palliative care program: impact on patterns of terminal cancer care. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1999; 161: 290-3.
- Norman A, Sisler J, Hack T, Harlos M. Family physicians and cancer care: palliative care patients' perspectives. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 2009-12.

- 29. Michiels E, Deschepper R, Van der Kelen G, Bernheim JL, Mortier F, Vander Stichele R, Deliens L. The role of general practitioners in continuity of care at the end of life: a qualitative study of terminally ill patients and their next of kin. Palliative Medicine. 2007; 21: 409-15.
- Han PKJ, Rayson D. The coordination of primary and oncology specialty care at the end of life. Journal of the National Cancer Institute Monograph. 2010; 40: 31-7.
- 31. Brogaard T, Jensen AB, Sokolowski I, Olesen F, Neergaard MA. Who is the key worker in palliative home care? Views of patients, relatives and primary care professionals. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2011; 29: 150-6.
- Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G. Family physician continuity of care and emergency department use in end-of-life cancer care. Medical Care. 2003; 41(8): 992-1001.
- 33. Abarshi E, Echteld M, Van den Block L, Donker G, Deliens L, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B. Transitions between care settings at the end of life in the Netherlands: results from a nationwide study. Palliative Medicine. 2010; 24(2): 166-74.
- Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G, Cummings I. Primary care continuity and location of death for those with cancer. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2003; 6(6): 911-8.
- 35. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Populationbased study of place of death of patients with cancer: implications for GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 2005; 55: 684-9.
- 36. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Does persistent involvement by the GP improve palliative care at home for end-stage cancer patients? Palliative Medicine. 2006; 20:507-12.
- 37. Neergaard MA, Vedsted P, Olesen F, Sokolowski I, Jensen AB, Sondergaard J. Associations between home death and GP involvement in palliative cancer care. British Journal of General Practice. 2009; 59: 671-7.
- 38. Abarshi E, Echteld MA, Van den Block L, Donker G, Bossuyt N, Meeussen K, Bilsen J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B, Deliens L. Use of palliative care services and general practitioner visits at the end of life in the Netherlands and Belgium. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2011; 41(2): 436-48.
- 39. Cancer Care Ontario. Improving the quality of palliative care services for cancer patients in Ontario. Available at <u>https://www.cancercare.on.ca/common/pages/UserFile.aspx?fileId=13760</u>. Accessed January 7, 2013.

- 40. Cancer Care Ontario. Regional models of care for palliative cancer care: Recommendations for the organization and delivery of palliative cancer care in Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario, Provincial Palliative Care Program; 2009. Available at <u>https://www.cancercare.on.ca/common/pages/UserFile.aspx?fileId=77326</u>. Accessed January 7, 2013.
- 41. Carstairs S. Raising the bar: a roadmap for the future of palliative care in Canada. The Senate of Canada. Ottawa, 2010. Available at <u>http://www.sharoncarstairs.ca/RaisingtheBarJune2010.pdf</u>. Accessed January 7, 2013.
- 42. Paetkau S, Switzer G, Kasperski J, et al. Advancing high quality, high value palliative care in Ontario; Declaration of partnership and commitment to action. Ontario Palliative Care Leadership Collaborative, 2011. Available at <a href="http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-">http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-</a> </a> <a href="http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-">http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-</a> </a> <a href="http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-">http://www.ccac-ont.ca/Upload/ww/General/ICCP-</a> </a> </a> </a>
- 43. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2010. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/2010-NationalFP-Q15.pdf</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- 44. Aubin M, Vezina L, Allard P, Bergeron R, Lemieus AP. Les soins palliatifs: profil de pratique des medecins de la region de Quebec. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 1999-2005.
- 45. Rhee JJ, Zwar N, Vagholkar S, Dennis S, Broadbent AM, Mitchell G. Attitudes and barriers to involvement in palliative care by Australian urban general practitioners. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2008; 11(7): 980-5.
- 46. Osiri M, Saag KG, Ford AM, Moreland LW. Practice pattern variation among internal medicine specialists in the prevention of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Journal of Clinical Rheumatology. 2000; 6(3): 117-22.
- 47. Lu SR, Wang SJ, Fuh JL. The practice pattern of migraine management among neurologists in Taiwan. Cephalalgia. 2006; 26(3):310-3.
- 48. Savino JS, Ley C, Boisvert D et al. Practice pattern variability for myocardial revascularization : impact on resource use across 24 centres. Journal of Cardiothoracic & Vascular Anesthesia. 2002; 16(2): 149-56.
- 49. Pai CW, Ozcan YA, Jiang HJ. Regional variation in physician practice pattern: An examination of technical and cost efficiency for treating sinusitis. Journal of Medical Systems. 2000; 24(2): 103-17.
- 50. Stange KC, Miller WL, McWhinney I. Developing the knowledge base of family practice. Family Medicine. 2001; 33(4): 286-97.

- 51. Creswell JW. Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2009.
- 52. Richards L, Morse JM. Readme first for a user's guide to qualitative methods. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2007.
- 53. Payne S. Qualitative methods of data collection and analysis. In: Addington-Hall JM, Bruera E, Higginson IJ, Payne S, editors. Research methods in palliative care. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 54. Charmaz K. Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2006.
- 55. Corbin J, Strauss A. Basics of qualitative research. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2008.
- 56. Miller WL, Crabtree BF. Clinical research: A multimethod typology and qualitative roadmap. In: Crabtree BF, Miller WL, editors. Doing qualitative research. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1999.
- 57. Glaser BG, Strauss AL. The discovery of grounded theory. Chicago: Aldine; 1967.

# Chapter 2

2 What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life? A grounded theory study.

## 2.1 Introduction

## 2.1.1 Background

Developing systems of services to provide adequate care for rapidly growing numbers of people requiring end of life care in the community is one of the major challenges facing Canadian health care systems. Between 1994 and 2004, the proportion of total deaths in Canada which occurred outside of hospital (i.e. in the community) nearly doubled<sup>1</sup>. Between 2010 and 2050, the total number of annual deaths in Canada is projected to increase by over  $90\%^2$ .

While specialty palliative medicine services exist in some cities, family physicians continue to be the primary (and in many communities only) resource for provision of medical care for community-dwelling patients approaching end of life. That family physicians maintain a central role in this care is consistent with patient preferences<sup>3-8</sup>, the values of many family physicians<sup>9-14</sup>, and the philosophy of family medicine as a discipline<sup>15-19</sup>. Family physician engagement is associated with reduced emergency room utilization and more home deaths for community patients at end of life<sup>20-25</sup>.

Family physician provision of care for community patients at end of life is not universal<sup>26-28</sup>. In the 2010 National Physician Survey, less than half of Canadian family physician respondents reported providing palliative care<sup>28</sup>. However, because the survey did not define palliative care, it is likely that the term would have been interpreted variously by respondents, making it difficult to interpret the results. The term 'palliative care' is used in at least four distinct ways. It may refer to interventions given with non-curative intent (e.g. 'palliative' in contrast to 'curative' chemotherapy), care in the final phase of life (i.e. synonymous with end of life care), care which is provided with the intent of the principles of hospice palliative care (at any stage of a potentially life-limiting

illness, possibly including simultaneously with 'curative intent' interventions), or care provided by specialized providers whose focus is exclusively on this patient population. A binary survey question is likely to oversimplify a potentially complex phenomenon.

Demographic and health service utilization trends emphasize the need to understand how family physicians provide care to their community patients approaching end of life, but insights provided by much of the existing literature are limited by varying uses of the term 'palliative care', and a failure to account for the potential complexity of the phenomenon. That some family physicians report providing palliative care while others do not may reflect varying interpretations of the term, but it may also suggest the existence of more than one pattern of providing for the care of community patients approaching the end of life. What is required, therefore, is an exploratory approach to understanding the spectrum of family physicians' care practices for community-dwelling patients approaching end of life.

#### 2.1.2 Research questions

The aim of the current study was to explore the differences in family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life, and how these differences come to be for individual family physicians. The research questions were:

1. How do patterns of care for community patients at end of life differ among family physicians?

2. What shapes the development of these differences?

#### 2.1.3 Selection of methodology

Each of the research questions could, in principle, be approached from either a quantitative or qualitative perspective. A quantitative approach could be used to measure the magnitude of differences in patterns of care, or the relative influence of various factors which affect the development of these differences. However, such quantitative approaches require an *a priori* understanding of what differences should be measured, and the extant literature does not provide this level of guidance. The need, therefore,

was for open-ended, exploratory research for which a qualitative approach was best suited. The topic of study is at a stage which requires qualitative theory-building, not quantitative hypothesis-testing.

The goal of the first research question (how do patterns of care differ?) was to understand the nature, not the degree, of differences in patterns of care. The goal of the second research question (what shapes these differences?) was to explore the principles and processes which lie behind the differences described in the first. Grounded theory, originally articulated by Glaser and Strauss<sup>29</sup>, is a methodology designed to explicate the processes which underlie social phenomena. The methodology emphasizes that development of the researcher's ideas must, at every stage from sampling through to theory-building, be directly derived from (i.e. 'grounded' in) the study's data, which are most often collected in the form of in-depth interviews. Grounded theory methodology is sensitive to both the structure of relationships among relevant concepts articulated by research participants, and the process of how and why things change over time. Other qualitative techniques are designed to address other types of questions, such as the perceived meaning or lived experience of a particular incident or condition (phenomenology), or the values and behaviours of groups within society (ethnography). Of the major qualitative methodologies, grounded theory was best suited to the goals of the current project.

Grounded theory methodology has been used extensively and evolved substantially since Glaser and Strauss' original description. For the current study, the researchers adopted a constructivist grounded theory approach as described by Charmaz<sup>30</sup>. The constructivist approach arose from a post-positivist paradigm and acknowledges that the knowledge generated by grounded theory research is not the 'discovery' of independent, objective truth. Rather, grounded theory researchers, together with their research participants, actively *construct* the findings through the research process. Grounded theory research results inevitably bear the fingerprints of the researchers.

In order to simultaneously make explicit and minimize this inevitable tendency for researchers to insert themselves into their research findings, constructivist grounded

theory emphasizes two practices: grounding and reflexivity. Grounding is the practice of returning continually to the data at every stage of the research process ('sticking close to the data'), to ensure that new ideas, insights, and potential connections exist in the data, and not merely in the researcher's mind. Reflexivity is the researcher's practice of constant reflection on, and writing about, how his or her own ideas, beliefs, assumptions and values may shape their perception and interpretation of the data. A statement of reflexivity appears in the discussion section of this paper.

### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Design

The present study employed the qualitative methodology of constructivist grounded theory<sup>30</sup>, using in-depth interviews with practicing family physicians as the primary source.

#### 2.2.2 Sampling and recruitment

The study was approved by Western University's Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (Appendix A). Potential participants were family physicians in active practice in southwestern Ontario, regardless of their patterns of care for community patients at end of life. Potential participants were identified through the personal networks of the investigators, recruited via letters and telephone calls and invited to participate in an indepth interview at a location of the participant's choosing. Recruitment information included a full description of the study. All participants provided written, informed consent. Sampling was purposeful, initially by maximum variation (e.g. seeking family physicians at different career stages, rural vs. urban). Ongoing recruitment was guided by theoretical sampling, which is the grounded theory practice of focusing on the sample of ideas rather than people. The goal of theoretical sampling is to incorporate the full range of ideas relevant to the topic, not to generate a representative cross-section of participants. Sampling and data collection continued until the point of saturation at which new participants provided no new additional concepts relevant to the central theme.

#### 2.2.3 Data collection

Data collection occurred between January and September 2011. In-depth interviews lasting between 45 and 65 minutes were conducted with each participant by the principal investigator. Each interview was conducted according to a semi-structured interview guide focused on two topics: a) a description of the participants' patterns of care for community patients at end of life and b) an exploration of how those particular patterns came to be. Participants were also asked to describe the general context of their current practice (location, duration, size, etc.). An example of the semi-structured interview guide is provided in Appendix B. Probes and clarifying questions were used frequently to confirm, extend, and deepen participants' responses. In accordance with the principles of theoretical sampling, the semi-structured interview guide and the contents of each interview evolved over the course of the project. Field notes, describing reflexivity and other contextual elements not captured on the audio recording, were made by the researcher immediately following each interview. Audiotapes were transcribed verbatim, checked for accuracy by the investigator who conducted the interview, and personal identifiers removed prior to analysis.

#### 2.2.4 Analysis

Analysis of transcripts was supplemented by reference to field notes and proceeded in an iterative, step-wise fashion according to constant comparative methods<sup>29,30</sup>, as emerging concepts were continually checked against the data of the interviews. NVivo software<sup>31</sup> facilitated management of the analysis process. Initial, line-by-line coding of each transcript, intended to capture the full range of ideas expressed by each participant, was conducted independently by two investigators (the candidate and one thesis supervisor). Initial codes from each investigator were compared and merged prior to focused coding, in which initial codes were sifted and sorted to identify concepts which were common and relevant to the research questions. Axial coding, which concentrated on elaborating the relationships among categories, followed focused coding. Overlap of coding steps occurred naturally as analysis was undertaken concurrently with ongoing data collection.

Joint coding sessions, in which both investigators discussed emerging concepts, were interspersed with periods of individual analysis.

Memoing and diagramming were used by the principal investigator throughout the analysis process to summarize ideas, identify relationships between concepts, and describe the properties and dimensions of emerging themes. Rigour was strengthened by use of techniques such as questioning, seeking the negative case, and focusing on words denoting relationship or temporality. The involvement of two analysts of separate disciplinary perspectives (one family physician, one epidemiologist) at each stage of the analysis also fostered thorough analysis. Credibility of the findings was strengthened by confirming interpretations of the participants' statements with them through the course of the interview, keeping and frequently referring to raw data and written memos, and using the participants' language in the analysis where possible. Reflexivity was fostered throughout the analysis process by 'journaling' in the form of field notes and memos, and discussions with the co-investigator during joint coding sessions.

The findings of a well-conducted grounded theory study go beyond a summarization of the themes articulated by participants. Grounded theory requires not just categories, but concepts which are then put into a framework describing the relationships among them. The end product of a project utilizing grounded theory methodology is a grounded theory; a description of key concepts and the relationships among them. Good grounded theory findings are marked by credibility, originality, resonance and usefulness<sup>30</sup>. The goal of the analysis process for the current study was thus to summarize the research findings in such a theory, each element of which was rigorously grounded in the data.

### 2.3 Findings

#### 2.3.1 Sample

A total of nine family physicians (five male and four female) in southwestern Ontario were interviewed. Participants came from both rural and urban settings, reflected a variety of career stages, and included full-time academic family physicians, part-time clinical faculty, and community family physicians with no university appointment. All participants described caring for community (i.e. non-institutionalized) patients at end of life.

#### 2.3.2 Different patterns of care

Participants consistently described their care for community patients at end of life in terms of activities that they carried out for the purpose of providing this care. Patterns of care manifested as patterns of activities, and these patterns varied among participants. The differences among patterns of activities described by participants fell into three dimensions: location, timing and purpose (Figure 2-1). *Location* of activities referred to physicians' availability to meet patients' needs in different physical locations. *Timing* of activities referred to when during the week physicians made themselves available to perform care activities. *Purpose* of activities referred to the way in which family physicians intended their actions to address patients' needs. Each of these dimensions is characterized in detail below.



# Figure 2-1: Dimensions of family physicians' patterns of activity for community patients at end of life.

The depiction of the three dimensions in this fashion does not imply that they are quantifiable or linear. It is intended to offer a visual illustration of how availability can span from lesser to greater for activities in each dimension.

#### Location of activities

Participants varied with respect to the range of physical locations where they engaged in activities to care for patients at end of life. All participants provided office-based palliative care for ambulatory patients, except for one participant who did not have any office-based practice. Only some participants cared for patients in hospital or long-term care settings. All participants in the sample provided house calls for community patients at end of life, but they also described a cohort of family physician colleagues who did not offer this option.

#### Timing of activities

Participants varied regarding the timing of their activities to meet the needs of community patients at end of life. Open access scheduling (same-day booking), designating weekly protected timeslots (e.g. Wednesday afternoons for house calls), or adding visits on to the end of the work day were some of the strategies used to create time to respond to needs of community patients at end of life. After-hours activities also varied widely, ranging from no after-hours physician availability to 24/7 personal on-call coverage.

#### Purpose of activities

All participants expressed a similar motivation to help their community patients at end of life. As succinctly expressed by one participant: "If I could be of any help I would do it." However, physicians varied in their perceptions of the scope of their ability and/or responsibility to further this goal, and the means by which their actions could do so. Accordingly, participants attributed different *purposes* to their activities. Some emphasized direct care provision (e.g. undertaking traditional tasks traditionally in the nursing domain, such as mouth and eye care), while others perceived themselves primarily in a facilitative role. One participant described his role this way: "They [home care] put in a plan of action for everything, and I [the family physician] sign it." Different participants identified a variety of specific goals for their own activities which were not necessarily shared by others (e.g. spiritual care, multidisciplinary team coordination,
facilitating completion of advance care planning documents). Thus while the overarching goal was the same for all (help my patients), participants described a spectrum of *purposes* for their individual activities.

In each of these three dimensions (timing, location, purpose), participants described their *normal extent of activities*. The normal extent of activities was the range of activities in each dimension which they would provide for most patients at end of life under usual circumstances: more or fewer locations of care, greater or lesser flexibility in timing of care, broader or narrower conceptions of their purpose. For each participant, the combination of the normal extent of their activities in each of these three dimensions together constituted their usual pattern of activities for community patients at end of life. In other words, each participant's unique pattern of activities for community patients at end of life could be characterized by their normal extent of activities in each of the three dimensions (Figure 2-2). A visual illustration of each participant's unique pattern of activities is presented in Appendix C.



Figure 2-2: Family physicians' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life.

The normal extent of each family physician's activities in each of three dimensions (1. location, 2. timing, 3. purpose) is illustrated by the distance from the centre along the relevant axis. The dimensions are not quantifiable, but are presented for conceptual purposes only. Taken together, the normal extents of activities in each of the three dimensions represent a pattern of activities unique to each family physician. Patterns of activities for two participant family physicians are presented.

*Participant D:* Locations of activities: moderate-high range (office, house calls, hospital); Timing of activities: moderate-high availability (dedicated half-days, group 24/7 on-call coverage); Purposes of activities: moderate range of purposes (expressed goals and roles beyond basic symptom management)

*Participant E:* Locations of activities: low range (office, rare house calls); Timing of activities: low availability (rare 'fit-in' house calls, no on-call coverage); Purposes of activities: moderate range of purposes (expressed goals and roles beyond basic symptom management)

Participants did not describe links between the extents of their activities in different dimensions. Participants seemed to consider the extent of activities of each dimension independently. For example, participants who provided care in a greater number of locations did not necessarily describe more dedicated time, or a broader conception of the purposes of their activities.

#### 2.3.3 How different patterns of care are shaped

Participants' insights into what shaped their individual patterns of activities are illustrated in Figure 2-3, and described in detail below. In reflecting upon what shaped their own patterns of activities for community patients at end of life, the overarching process participants described could be summarized as *making it fit*. Fit described both a *state of alignment* ("Doing palliative care is a real fit for me.") and a *process* by which space is made for these activities ("It fits in with everything else that happens."). Participants' patterns of activities in the care of community patients at end of life needed to fit, and were made to fit, each participant's unique circumstances.

Participants described three key aspects of this overarching process. First, they emphasized the *contexts* in which their activities must fit. Second, they described how *influences* arising from these contexts shaped their activities. Third, they articulated how they responded to these influences by *weighing the impact* of potential changes in their patterns of activities.



Figure 2-3: Making it fit.

Family physicians' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life are again symbolized by a triangle, in this case representing a hypothetical physician's normal extent of activities in each dimension (location, timing, purpose). This pattern of activities (triangle) exists in dynamic interaction with the physician and healthcare *contexts* (discussed further below – represented here by overlapping squares). Physician's practice activities are a subset of both these contexts. The physician's pattern of activities (triangle) is subject to *influences* (discussed further below – represented here by inward-pointing arrows) arising from the physician and healthcare contexts, but is also a product of choices made by physicians who *weigh the impact* of potential changes to their patterns of activities (outward-pointing arrows). The overarching theme of *making it fit* connotes both the interactive process of establishing patterns of activities, and the adequacy with which these patterns enable the physician to meet the multiple demands of the physician and healthcare contexts.

## 2.3.3.1 Contexts in which activities occur

For every participant, care for community patients at end of life was a subset of activities within their overall practice activities. Participants' practice activities were, in turn, a subset of the larger *physician context*, which included their lives outside of medicine, and the *healthcare context*, which included the practice as a whole and the healthcare system at large. The *physicians' practice activities* constituted the realm of overlap between the physician and healthcare contexts. Each of the three dimensions of patterns of activity for care for community patients at end of life (location, timing and purpose) must fit within these overlapping contexts.

#### Physician Context

Participants described their patterns of activities for community patients at end of life in relation to their unique *physician context*. The physician context included both practice activities and those in life outside of medicine. One participant illustrated the effect of other practice activities this way: "When I first started, and I literally had zero patients, I had all kinds of time and probably did more visits at home than I do now." The contextual importance of life outside of medicine was demonstrated by another participant: "I wanted as much as I could to kind of limit my after-hours work and exposure... I hate to say the word 'lifestyle', but it's true."

Participants also identified a range of other personal conditions which formed part of the physician context, including:

- Personality
  - o "It fits my personality."
- Values & Beliefs
  - "I guess I would certainly put a part of my own faith into it too. I just sort of feel that I'm called to help."
- Family circumstances
  - o "My husband's understanding... I'm lucky that way."
- Personal experiences
  - "It's a combination of my experience in life and as a physician... [A] few of my family members went through that."

Patterns of activity to care for community patients at end of life thus had to fit both with the physicians' other activities (both practice activities and in life outside of medicine), and their unique set of personal conditions (personality, values & beliefs, family circumstances, personal experiences).

#### Healthcare Context

In addition to the physician context, participants' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life were simultaneously part of the *healthcare context*. This context includes the primary care practice and the healthcare system as a whole. Physicians' practice activities, described above under the physician context, were equally part of the healthcare context and constituted the domain of overlap between the two contexts (Figure 2-3).

Participants described four key features of the healthcare context:

- Patients and their needs
  - "Even if everything could have been done over the phone, that actual face to face visit with the patient or the family means a lot... You can't substitute that."
- Professional expectations
  - "I have to care for them. That's the whole reason why I'm a doctor. To me, it's just the spirit of family medicine."
- Practice resources
  - "In the [Family Health Team] model that we have now...I can provide better service because I have a collaborative team...I have all the services I need."
  - "So the way I instruct my front desk staff, they would know by now whom they would fit in right away, whom they would interrupt me during the visit to talk to, or whom they would take a message from for me to answer later."
- System design & resources
  - "The community nurses have become my eyes and ears, so to speak, and that has really made it easier."
  - "If it's an imminent death, then they [the home care system] are very good at responding...but when it's two or three months...those are the people that tend to, I think, get shafted a bit."

Family physicians' patterns of activity for community patients at end of life had to fit, and were made to fit, with all these aspects of the healthcare context.

# 2.3.3.2 Influences governing the extent of activities

In order to understand the pattern of tides at the seaside, one must recognize the context (the lunar cycle), but also understand the nature of the influence (gravity) exerted by that context upon the phenomenon of interest (tidal patterns). In reflecting on what shaped their patterns of care for community patients at end of life, participant family physicians described *influences* which arose from the physician and healthcare contexts. Influences were how the physician and healthcare contexts affected the participants. Influences were the forces exerted by the contexts, and created pressures on participants to either extend or to restrict the scope of their activities for community patients at end of life. *Growth influences* favoured an increase in one or more dimensions of care activities (e.g. by expanding to new locations of care, providing additional hours of coverage, or addressing a broader range of needs) while *minimizing influences* had the opposite effect.

#### Growth Influences

The primary growth influence was the perceived needs of community patients at end of life and their families. When asked how he came to adopt his particular pattern of practice, one participant responded simply, "Because the need was there." Another participant identified how patient needs shaped her decision to provide in-hospital care: "In hospital situations, I really feel the palliative care patients need to be under a certain type of physician – [either] their family physician or a palliative care physician who visits often. Otherwise they do get lost in the shuffle."

Other growth influences arose from the healthcare context. One participant described how training in palliative care influenced his ability to provide this service to his patients: "I took some time to get additional [palliative care] training experience; therefore I'm a bit more comfortable with it." Practice structure can be another growth influence. One participant reflected on how her role as a preceptor for family medicine residents influenced her patterns of activities: "It is important that these residents learn that experience [house calls for community patients at end of life] and have a role model."

In addition to such growth influences from the healthcare context, further growth influences developed from the physician context. Participants identified personal beliefs ("My religious beliefs would be a driving force as well.") and sense of reward ("I enjoy it. That why I do more of it.") as important growth influences.

#### Minimizing Influences

Minimizing influences were those which favoured restriction of physicians' activities in any of the three dimensions. These operated simultaneously with growth influences and were similarly derived from both the healthcare context and the physician context.

The healthcare context was the source of important minimizing influences identified by participants:

- Other practice demands
  - "I can't think of a way to still be able to take care of people in their homes and do everything else as a rural family doc. Something's got to give."
- System issues
  - "I know that [specialist palliative care physician] program evolved because family docs weren't doing it. So somebody had to do it and therefore they developed a system to do it, but now it's excluding the [family] docs who do want to do it."

Minimizing influences also arose from the physician context:

- Family obligations
  - "Sometimes I feel guilty when I take that time and I don't come home to be with my family for supper."
- Discomfort with palliative care
  - "Everyone has their weak points that they just are not comfortable with.
     And I think for a lot [of family doctors], palliative is not terribly comfortable."

#### Direction of Influences Not Always Predictable

For some influences, the direction of effect (growth or minimizing) was subject to contextual factors unique to the individual physician, and thus not easily predictable. For example, changes introduced by the provincial Ministry of Health in remuneration for primary care activities (including community palliative care) were perceived by some participants as a growth influence, and by others as a minimizing influence. One participant described the impact of the remuneration changes this way: "Now we can bill mileage. You get gas money for doing house calls! It's a huge incentive." Another participant, in describing the same Ministry of Health agreement, came to the opposite conclusion: "Now with the primary care bonuses and the financial rewards it pays better, obviously, to be in the office."

#### Fixed Limits

While most growth and minimizing influences were interpreted as relative or negotiable, some of these influences were non-negotiable and, in effect, set fixed limits on the extent of activity in one or more dimensions. These fixed limits arose from the healthcare context and governed a physician's patterns of activities by defining either a minimum or maximum extent of activity.

One participant cited an example of a fixed minimum extent of activity imposed by her practice structure: "When I joined [this practice], there was no discussion of 'Do you want to do this or not?' It was 'This is the way we do it.' It was presumed if you're joining us, you're going to have a pattern of practice that fits our pattern of practice." Another participant cited an example of system-level imposition of a fixed maximum extent of activity: "I actually had privileges at [city hospital] for palliative care and that vanished. I tried to admit someone and they had 'lost my file' - lost all knowledge of my existence. So that ended my inpatient palliative role." In theory, it may have been possible for physicians to overcome some of these limits, but the changes required were either drastic (such as physically moving to a different practice) or almost completely outside of the physicians' control (such as amending hospital policy).

#### 2.3.3.3 Weighing the impact

In response to growth and minimizing influences, participants needed to establish choices about the extent of each dimension (location, timing, purpose) of their activities. Participants described a process of *weighing the impact* of their patterns of activities. In considering potential changes to their own patterns of activities, physicians accounted for the potential burdens and benefits for their community patients at end of life, themselves, and other stakeholders (such as the other patients in their practice).

#### Benefits & Burdens

From the participants' perspective, activities for community patients at end of life provided two main benefits: better care for the patients, and personal satisfaction for themselves as care providers.

- Better patient care
  - "It's more seamless when you're seeing them at home... So I think it is better care."
- Personal satisfaction
  - o "It's a challenge, but it's extremely rewarding."

Participants also recognized the potential for these activities to create burdens for themselves, their patients, and others in the physician and healthcare contexts. All participants identified the cost in time as the major burden they experienced in order to care for community patients at end of life: "Sitting at the bedside for 45 minutes might not be the most efficient use of time... But I find that when I rush through things, I don't feel as good about what I've done." Participants also recognized that activities for community patients at end of life also had the potential to create burdens for those very patients themselves: "We try to make a point of seeing them regularly, but not impose too much on them."

Participants also considered the burdens on other stakeholders in the physician and healthcare contexts. One participant articulated the burden of these activities on her family this way: "The driving is a big hassle and that drive equates with time, which is

time away from my family." In the healthcare context, participants considered the impact on their staff and other patients: "If I had four simultaneously dying...that would be a big time commitment...for the office demands, because that's booking time off my day sheets so I can make sure I go there."

#### The Process of Weighing the Impact

Weighing the impact was the process by which influences (growth or minimizing) were perceived, interpreted, evaluated, and translated (or not) into changes in patterns of activities. Being closely tied to influences and contexts, the language used by the participants echoed that used to describe their contexts and influences, but here emphasized the physician's agency in the process. As illustrated by the quotations below, *weighing the impact* was an active process of evaluating about the implications of their patterns of activities in their individual contexts. While *growth* and *minimizing influences* highlighted how the healthcare and physician contexts have an effect on the equation: participants considered how their patterns of activity affected their healthcare and physician contexts.

Participants weighed the impact of activities for their patients:

"One of the problems has come when we have patients from [a distance]...I like to look after my patients right till the end, but when it comes to what my wishes are versus the quality of care they're going to get, the quality of care has to win over."

Participants weighed the impact of their activities for themselves and their families:

- "If it really did impact my family life...I would give up that aspect of my practice [care of community patients at end of life]."
- "I don't really want to take the time out of the office to suffer income to do a one-hour house call, so then it gets moved. Well, what do I give up?
  [Maybe] Saturday morning, the kids are still asleep? Or at night when I'm on call?"

This process of *weighing the impact* was highly individual and tuned to contextual considerations. This process was informal, but reflective. No participants described any type of structured analysis, but all articulated a rich and nuanced sense of the balance between the burdens and benefits within their own contexts. The outcome of the process of weighing the impact was not simply a decision regarding the extent of one or more dimensions of activities, but a sense of the *fit* between physicians' patterns of activities and their contexts.

# 2.3.3.4 Overarching process: making it fit

In summary, the overarching process which shaped participants' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life can be summarized as *making it fit*. Fit described both a state of alignment and a process by which patterns of activities are worked out in context. Each participant's unique pattern of activities could be understood as the combination of their normal extent of activities in each of three dimensions (location, timing and purpose of activities). These activities needed to fit in the contexts of which they were a part: the physician's practice activities as a subset of both the physician and healthcare contexts. From each of these contexts arose influences which affected, directly or indirectly, one or more dimensions of participants' patterns of activities. Fit was, in this sense, something to be found -a pattern that suited the contexts. But participants described not only *finding* a fit, but *making* a fit: they weighed the impact of different patterns of activities and made choices that accounted for the benefits and burdens to themselves, their patients and other stakeholders in the physician and healthcare contexts. The overarching theme of *making it fit* thus connotes both the interactive process of establishing patterns of activities, and the adequacy with which these patterns enable the physician to meet the multiple demands of the physician and healthcare contexts.

# 2.4 Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Statement of Reflexivity

As discussed earlier, the research findings from grounded theory methodology are, in fact, 'research constructions' actively co-created by the participants and researchers. For this reason, the researcher's statement of reflexivity provides important context for the interpretation of the findings.

As a family physician with a focused practiced in palliative care (including community palliative care), I did not approach this topic as a disinterested outsider. I hold beliefs about the responsibilities of a family physician and the role that they should play in the care of their community patients at end of life: that they should actively participate in this care, including making house calls when necessary and provision for after-hours access to physician coverage. Although I consciously strove to maintain a neutral stance throughout the interview and data analysis processes, it is possible that my point of view affected, consciously or unconsciously, both what participants chose to say and how I interpreted their statements. Similarly, it may be that my pre-existing relationships with some of the research participants affected the manner in which I pursued (or failed to pursue) potentially challenging questions, or the manner in which they answered such questions.

As an interviewer who shared a professional background with my participants, I may have more readily grasped the meaning and nuances of some of the participants' statements. However, I may also have been more likely to make assumptions, possibly incorrectly, about these meanings. Similarly, my participants may have made assumptions about shared knowledge or perspectives, and thus not considered it necessary to articulate some relevant ideas.

The second investigator, who conducted no interviews but participated in the analysis, is an epidemiologist without direct experience in community based end of life care. Her alternative perspective may have helped to mitigate the biases I brought to the analysis process.

#### 2.4.2 Key findings

The goals of the current study were to identify how family physicians differ in their patterns of care for community patients at end of life, and describe what shapes the development of these differences. All participants provided care to community patients at end of life, and none considered this domain of care to be optional to their practices. However, the participants varied substantially in their availability to provide care activities in different locations, and at different times. Participants also held a diversity of views on the specific purposes of their activities.

This mixture of care activities among participants implies that there is no clear 'standard of care' for family physicians with respect to the provision of care for community patients at end of life. While all participants held some general goals in common, such as 'help my patients' or 'support the family', the differences arose in the details: exactly where, when, and how the participants sought to achieve these ends. There is no welldefined list of responsibilities and activities which constitutes a standard expectation of family physicians in this domain. In the absence of clear and specific expectations, participants as a group perceived themselves to possess a great deal of discretion regarding their activities for community patients at end of life. Diversity is thus the norm.

The absence of specific expectations is an enabling condition for this diversity, but it is not the cause. The roots of diversity in family physicians patterns of care for community patients at end of life are to be found in the contexts in which family physicians undertake these activities. Participants described two key contexts, the physician context and the healthcare context, which overlap in the physician's practice activities (of which activities to care for community patients at end of life are a subset). Each physician's unique contexts lead to distinct patterns of activities for community patients at end of life through two related dynamics: *influences* (where elements within the contexts induce physicians to either extend or restrict their activities for community patients at end of life) and *weighing the impact* (where family physicians balance the anticipated benefits and burdens of potential changes in their patterns of activities). The net process,

characterized above as *making it fit*, is one with both pro-active and re-active features. Family physicians choose patterns of activities on the basis of both principle (what is best for my community patients at end of life), and feasibility (what is possible in light of the requirements of other stakeholders in my contexts).

#### 2.4.3 Relationship of findings to the published literature

While a general knowledge of the relevant literature is necessary at the outset of a project using grounded theory methodology, the traditional convention among grounded theorists is to delay the full literature review until after the analysis<sup>29</sup>. The rationale for this practice is twofold. First, it is intended to minimize the risk of interpreting data through pre-formed lenses imported into the analysis. Second, because the concepts which arise from the analysis cannot necessarily be predicted, it is difficult to know in advance which bodies of literature will be most salient to the findings.

In accordance with this convention, the full literature review for the current project was conducted after completion of the analysis. The findings of the study suggested connections to three related, but separate, bodies of knowledge. The first literature of interest was that addressing *end of life care by family physicians*, with particular attention to issues of coordination with other care providers. Second, this study's finding that family physicians varied in the timing, location and purposes of their activities raised issues addressed in literature regarding *comprehensiveness of family physician care*. Third, the participants' descriptions of the importance of the physician context suggested that related insights could be gleaned from literature addressing *family physician work-life balance*. Literature reviews for each of these three topic areas were conducted; the search strategies are summarized in Appendix D. This section reviews the most pertinent publications in each topic area and their relevance to the current study's findings.

# 2.4.3.1 End of life care by family physicians and their coordination with other care providers

#### What the Literature Shows

Family physicians vary greatly in the number of deaths in their practice each year<sup>32-34</sup>. It is perhaps not surprising that some FPs describe challenges with issues ranging from identifying patients at risk of dying<sup>35,36</sup>, to having conversations about end of life choices<sup>37-39</sup>, symptom management<sup>40-45</sup>, psychosocial care<sup>46</sup>, certification of death<sup>47</sup> and care for the bereaved<sup>48</sup>. These challenges may be due to knowledge deficits, lack of experience or structural, system-level obstacles<sup>49,50</sup>.

Family physicians routinely collaborate with other providers (nurses, physicians and other allied health care providers) in the care of community patients at end of life<sup>51-56</sup>. Family physicians' likelihood of referring to collaborating professionals for their palliative care patients is influenced by multifaceted judgments about the timeliness, effectiveness, and collegiality of potential consultants<sup>57</sup>. Coordination of primary care with specialty care is not well-studied, but coordination can have some positive impact on health outcomes<sup>7</sup>. Impact of a coordinating service based outside of primary care for terminally ill cancer patients was limited<sup>58</sup>.

Family physicians differ on whether they should hold responsibility for primary coordination care for these patients<sup>55,59,60</sup>. Family physicians themselves are sometimes unclear on who holds overall responsibility with multiple practitioners involved<sup>61</sup>. In one study, patients and their caregivers described wanting their family physicians to play a coordinating role, but felt they were too often required to undertake this task themselves<sup>8</sup>. Case conferences to improve communication hold potential, but evidence for impact on patient outcomes is scant<sup>62-64</sup>.

Role negotiation is a recognized challenge. Family physicians value the input of collaborative specialty services<sup>62,65,66</sup> and access to specialist palliative medicine consultations is described by family physicians as an important supportive factor to primary palliative care practice<sup>13,67,68</sup>. However, the relationship between family physicians and specialty palliative medicine services has raised persistent concerns about

appropriate role differentiation<sup>10,49,69-73</sup>. The involvement of specialist care is a recognized risk for increasing perception or reality of patient abandonment<sup>74</sup> and 'de-skilling' of family physicians in end of life care<sup>75</sup>.

Previous research on family physician provision of palliative care has typically started with the assumption that some family physicians provide palliative care and others do not. These studies usually use surveys to characterize physicians who do, and who do not provide palliative care. The surveys have not defined palliative care, and have considered it in only a binary fashion (offered, not offered), leaving respondents to make their own judgments regarding what definition to use, and what threshold of service constitutes provision of care<sup>26-28,76,77</sup>. The result is a potentially misleading oversimplification of the range of practice patterns adopted by family physicians in caring for patients with palliative needs.

#### What This Study Adds

The current study was distinct from any of the reviewed literature in that it began with the premise that all family physicians care for community-dwelling patients who are approaching end of life, whether or not these patients are identified as 'palliative care' patients. Instead of 'Do you provide palliative care?', the question asked in this study was: 'How do you address the needs of your community patients at end of life?' This project was the first grounded theory study to explore this topic. While participants echoed many ideas previously documented in the literature, this study adds three important insights.

The first is to propose a three-dimensional taxonomy for understanding differences among family physicians in their practice patterns for caring for community patients at end of life. Issues of *timing* and *location* of activities had been described previously, though not linked in a manner which would enable conclusions about the intersection of these two dimensions (e.g. after hours availability for house calls). Aubin's 2001 survey of family physicians in the Quebec City region asked about 'palliative care' in office, home and institutional settings, and whether provision was made for after hours coverage, but it did not address after hours home visits or how family physicians responded to urgent needs from home-bound patients during business hours<sup>26</sup>. In a study of Australian family physicians' provision of palliative care, some respondents identified 'home visits' and 'live too far away for after hours care' as barriers to providing palliative care, but the survey did not address whether or not the respondents actually provided these services<sup>27</sup>. Three Canadian National Physician Surveys<sup>28,76,77</sup> asked about palliative care, house calls, and after hours coverage in separate sections of the survey, and one can only assume that respondents' house call and after hours services (or lack thereof) for the practice as a whole applied equally to patients approaching end of life. Differences among family physicians in the *purpose* of activities for community patients at end of life had not been identified previously, though a few studies which describe differing preferences regarding the family physician's role in coordinating care hint at this dimension<sup>55,59,60</sup>. This thesis is the first study to explore all three of these dimensions simultaneously.

Second, the identification of variations among family physicians in the purpose of their activities sheds light on some of the findings of prior research described above. The challenges of role negotiation among collaborating care providers is a recurring theme in this literature<sup>51,55,61,69,71,72</sup>. This study suggests that one contributing element to this difficulty may be unrecognized differences among care providers in their perceptions of the purpose of the family physician's care activities. If family physicians vary in their ideas about the purposes of their care activities, and if these differences remain tacit, it is not surprising that misunderstandings will arise between family physicians and other collaborating care providers. Differing assumptions regarding purposes of activities may be at the core of many of the challenges in coordinating care at end of life care.

Third, the current study adds to our understanding of how contextual influences shape family physicians' patterns of practice for community patients at end of life. Several surveys of family physicians have identified contextual barriers to provision of palliative care such as time required, lack of support, and poor information flow<sup>27,50,52</sup>, but the surveys do not examine the real-world implications of these barriers. Burge's 2001 qualitative study of Nova Scotia family physicians' provision of palliative care identified some contextual themes (resources, family support, time and money), but did not explore

how these contexts affected physicians' activities<sup>13</sup>. In terms of system organization, one trial of a palliative care service intervention in London, England demonstrated no impact on the frequency of patient encounters with their family physician<sup>58</sup>, while another trial of a different intervention in Cambridge, England showed a reduction in after hours family physician house calls<sup>78</sup>. At the macro level, in a study of family physician care of end of life cancer patients in Nova Scotia between 1992 and 1998, Burge found that there was no change in the rate of FP office visits or house calls despite an increase in the proportion of home deaths (from 20% to 30%) among the cancer population over that same time period<sup>21</sup>.

The contribution of this study is that participants described *how* contextual elements, many similar to those previously identified in the literature, shape their patterns of activities. Family physician participants in this study did not consider their provision of care to community patients at end of life in isolation from other elements of their practice. They recognized that their choices regarding patterns of care for community patients at end of life have substantial implications for other aspects of their practices. None of the literature reviewed explored these implications in either direction: neither the influence of other practice demands on patterns of care for community patients at end of life, or the impact of care activities for end of life patients on other aspects of the primary care practice. The findings of this study suggest that without attention to specific contextual detail, general pronouncements regarding the influences on family physician patterns of care for community patients at end of life will be of limited practical applicability.

# 2.4.3.2 Comprehensiveness of care in family medicine

#### What the Literature Shows

Comprehensiveness of care is much-discussed in family medicine, and is seen as a core value of family medicine<sup>79-81</sup> and a key feature of effective primary care<sup>82-84</sup>. Despite widespread endorsement of the importance of comprehensiveness in family medicine, there is no universally-accepted definition for comprehensiveness of care or standard for measuring it. Two distinct concepts of comprehensiveness are evident in the literature.

Comprehensiveness may be measured by the range of clinical services provided in the primary practice location (screening, prevention, treatment, counseling, etc.)<sup>85-87</sup>, or by the diversity of geographic locations at which clinical services are provided (office, house calls, hospital, emergency, long-term care, etc.)<sup>88,89</sup>. Many characterizations of comprehensiveness of care included elements of both range of clinical services and diversity of geographical locations<sup>83,90</sup>. House calls and provision of palliative or end of life care are frequently identified as part of 'comprehensive' family practice<sup>80,84,85,91-93</sup>. By any definition, comprehensiveness among Canadian family physicians is perceived to be declining<sup>84,88,91</sup>.

#### What This Study Adds

In the literature, comprehensiveness is conceived as a physician attribute. While the current study was not about comprehensiveness *per se*, family physician participants generally assessed the range of services available at the level of the patient, not the physician. Their concern was not whether they themselves offered all services relevant to community end of life care, but rather whether their patient had adequate access to necessary services. In the language of this study, family physician participants considered influences arising from the healthcare context (including availability of other services) which they weighed in making decisions about their patterns of activities. Continuity of care was valued as important for patients, families, and themselves as physicians, but participants acknowledged that there were other providers in the system who could play a role. Family physician participants recognized the need to make judgments about how to best invest their time, and for some this meant giving up some elements of 'comprehensiveness' if patient needs could be well-met by someone else in the system.

From this perspective, it is perhaps to be expected that enhancement of clinical services outside of primary care (for community patients at end of life, or other patient groups) could result in declining out-of-office 'comprehensiveness', as family physicians reallocate their resources (time) to invest in areas which are lacking for other segments of their practice population. Perhaps measures of comprehensiveness should be less concerned with whether individual family physicians provide all these types of care at all locations, but focus instead on whether family physicians adequately coordinate access to all the necessary types of care in the range of locations.

## 2.4.3.3 Family physicians' work-life balance

#### What the Literature Shows

While a healthy work-life balance is acknowledged as a key to sustainable practice<sup>94-97</sup>, failing to achieve this balance is a common problem among physicians, including family physicians in Canada<sup>95,98-100</sup>. Considerations of work-life balance shape practice patterns on multiple levels including influences on choice of discipline<sup>101-103</sup> and location of practice<sup>101,104</sup>. Unfortunately, not all stakeholders are supportive of policy innovations aimed to addressing work-life balance problems<sup>105</sup>.

#### What This Study Adds

Physician work-life balance was an important theme for family physician participants in this study, characterized in the analysis as *making it fit* within the physician context.

Previous studies of family physician work-life balance have focused on discrete, categorical choices: of discipline, of city, of whether or not to practice intrapartum obstetrics. The unique contribution of the current study is that it illustrates how perceptions of work-life balance can also affect smaller choices that are a matter of degree, such as how much flexibility is built into the clinic schedule, or how readily available to make oneself for after-hours house calls. The study participants recognized that balance is not simply a matter of managing the total number of hours of work, but of prioritizing among the competing demands within the practice<sup>106</sup>.

# 2.4.4 Implications of the findings

# 2.4.4.1 We must recognize, and account for, diversity in patterns of care.

As professionals, family physicians are granted wide latitude in how to organize their practice activities. This flexibility is important to enable each family physician to fully utilize his or her individual strengths, and to adapt practice patterns to meet the needs of his or her unique practice population. In the care of community patients at end of life, one size does not fit all.

If healthcare systems fail to adequately account for this diversity of family physician practice patterns, the result is likely to be gaps (if it is assumed that all family physicians provide palliative care services at home 24/7) or redundancies (if it is assumed that they won't). If community care delivery systems are to be flexible enough to collaborate optimally across the spectrum of FP practice patterns, then a common language for discussing divisions of responsibility is necessary. Assumptions regarding availability and purposes of activities are dangerous. The taxonomy identified in this study – location, timing, and purpose of activities – provides a potential framework for such discussions. Refinement of the nomenclature and establishing mechanisms to facilitate discussions will be necessary.

Mismatches between care providers regarding the purposes of FP activities may be at the root of many of the recognized challenges in coordinating care for this patient population. What is perceived as helpful support by one family physician may easily be interpreted as meddlesome intrusion by another. Further exploration of the purposes of activities dimension may be particularly valuable.

# 2.4.4.2 Patterns of care cannot be divorced from their contexts.

Family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life are intimately intertwined with numerous elements of their personal context, the primary care practice, and the broader healthcare system. A reductionist approach to understanding patterns of

care for community patients at end of life, in which this one element of practice is singled out for consideration, will have limited ability to affect meaningful change.

For individual family physicians, greater availability along any of the three axes (timing, location, purposes) will come at a cost: either personal, financial, or to the potential detriment of other stakeholders in their healthcare context. Any system innovations intended to enhance family physician availability to provide end of life care to community patients must be carefully considered to fit the contextual realities of the target physicians. Unintended consequences are to be expected, and evaluation designs must look for them.

#### 2.4.5 Limitations

This study had several limitations. The number of participants was small and all were drawn from one geographic region. While data collection proceeded until saturation of the central theme (making it fit), further sampling may have yielded additional insights within sub-themes. Second, while surveys show that a substantial minority of family physicians do not report providing palliative care, none of the participants in this study described this practice pattern. Attempts were made to interview some such physicians, but none consented to participating in the study. Nevertheless, the diversity of patterns among study participants (Appendix C) suggests applicability of the findings across the spectrum of family physician practice patterns. Third, the analysis is shaped, and perhaps in some ways limited, by my perspective as a family physician with a focused practice in palliative care, including community palliative care. The implications of this have been discussed in the statement of reflexivity above.

#### 2.4.6 Call for further research

Further research is needed to confirm, extend and apply the findings of the current exploratory study. Undertaking a similar study with family physicians elsewhere in Canada could reinforce concepts identified in this study, and yield additional insights. The 'purpose of activities' dimension was not fully developed by this study, and additional qualitative research to elaborate our understanding of how family physicians

conceive of the purposes of the activities they undertake when caring for community patients at end of life would be a valuable contribution. In order to foster improved collaboration, an application of the findings of this study might use the taxonomy of timing, location and purpose of activities to facilitate a structured communication between family physicians and other healthcare providers involved in the care of community patients at end of life.

# 2.4.7 Conclusions

Family physicians vary in the timing, location and purpose of activities by which they seek to care for community patients approaching end of life. These variations are shaped by a process of making it fit, in which family physicians weigh the implications of practice pattern choices in light of their unique contexts. Systems of care for community patients at end of life need to take this variation into account, and develop mechanisms for negotiating roles accordingly.

# 2.5 References

- 1. Wilson DM, Truman CD, Thomas R, Fainsinger R, Kovacs-Burns K, Froggatt K, Justice C. The rapidly changing location of death in Canada, 1994-2004. Social Science & Medicine. 2009; 68: 1752-8.
- Statistics Canada. Population projections for Canada, provinces and territories, 2009-2036. Catalogue no., 91-520-X. Available at <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/91-520-x/91-520-x2010001-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed November 10, 2012.
- 3. Charlton RC. Attitudes toward care of the dying: a questionnaire survey of general practice attenders. Family Practice. 1991; 8: 356-9.
- 4. Bruera E, Neumann CM, Gagnon B, Brenneis C, Kneisler P, Selmser P, et al. Edmonton regional palliative care program: impact on patterns of terminal cancer care. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1999; 161: 290-3.
- 5. Norman A, Sisler J, Hack T, Harlos M. Family physicians and cancer care: palliative care patients' perspectives. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 2009-12.
- 6. Michiels E, Deschepper R, Van der Kelen G, Bernheim JL, Mortier F, Vander Stichele R, Deliens L. The role of general practitioners in continuity of care at the

end of life: a qualitative study of terminally ill patients and their next of kin. Palliative Medicine. 2007; 21: 409-15.

- Han PKJ, Rayson D. The coordination of primary and oncology specialty care at the end of life. Journal of the National Cancer Institute Monograph. 2010; 40: 31-7.
- 8. Brogaard T, Jensen AB, Sokolowski I, Olesen F, Neergaard MA. Who is the key worker in palliative home care? Views of patients, relatives and primary care professionals. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2011; 29: 150-6.
- 9. Brown JB, Sangster M, Swift J. Factors influencing palliative care: qualitative study of family physicians' practices. Canadian Family Physician. 1998; 44: 1028-34.
- 10. Field D. Special not different: general practioners' accounts of their care of dying people. Social Science and Medicine. 1998; 46(9): 1111-20.
- 11. Farber SJ, Egnew TR, Herman-Bertsch JL. Issues in end-of-life care: family practice faculty perceptions. Journal of Family Practice. 1999; 49: 525-30.
- Lloyd-Williams M, Wilkinson C, Lloyd-William F. General practitioners in North Wales: current experiences of palliative care. European Journal of Cancer Care. 2000; 9: 138-43.
- 13. Burge F, McIntyre P, Twohig P, Cummings I, Kaufman D, Frager G, Pollett A. Palliative care by family physicians in the 1990s: resilience amid reform. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 1989-95.
- Johansen M, Holtedahl KA, Rudebeck CE. A doctor close at hand: How GPs view their role in cancer care. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2010; 28: 249–55.
- 15. Longhurst MF. Dying and the family physician. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1981; 124: 552-4.
- 16. Gwinn RB. Family physicians should be experts in palliative care. American Family Physician. 2000; 61(3): 636-42.
- 17. Lehmann F, Daneault S. Palliative care: first and foremost the domain of family physicians. Canadian Family Physician. 2006; 52: 417-8.
- College of Family Physicians of Canada. Standards for Accreditation of Residency Training Programs. College of Family Physicians of Canada. Mississauga, ON; 2006.
- 19. Gulland A. GPs and nurses launch end of life care charter. British Medical Journal. 2011; 342: d3415.

- 20. Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G. Family physician continuity of care and emergency department use in end-of-life cancer care. Medical Care. 2003; 41(8): 992-1001.
- Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G, Cummings I. Primary care continuity and location of death for those with cancer. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2003; 6(6): 911-8.
- 22. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Populationbased study of place of death of patients with cancer: implications for GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 2005; 55: 684-9.
- 23. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Does persistent involvement by the GP improve palliative care at home for end-stage cancer patients? Palliative Medicine. 2006; 20:507-12.
- 24. Neergaard MA, Vedsted P, Olesen F, Sokolowski I, Jensen AB, Sondergaard J. Associations between home death and GP involvement in palliative cancer care. British Journal of General Practice. 2009; 59: 671-7.
- 25. Abarshi E, Echteld MA, Van den Block L, Donker G, Bossuyt N, Meeussen K, Bilsen J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B, Deliens L. Use of palliative care services and general practitioner visits at the end of life in the Netherlands and Belgium. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2011; 41(2): 436-48.
- 26. Aubin M, Vezina L, Allard P, Bergeron R, Lemieus AP. Les soins palliatifs: profil de pratique des medecins de la region de Quebec. Canadian Family Physician. 2001 ; 47(10) : 1999-2005.
- 27. Rhee JJ, Zwar N, Vagholkar S, Dennis S, Broadbent AM, Mitchell G. Attitudes and barriers to involvement in palliative care by Australian urban general practitioners. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2008; 11(7): 980-5.
- College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2010. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/2010-NationalFP-Q15.pdf</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- 29. Glaser BG, Strauss AL. The discovery of grounded theory. Chicago: Aldine; 1967.
- 30. Charmaz K. Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2006.
- 31. NVivo version 9.2.81.0. QSR International: Doncaster, Victoria, Australia, 2011.
- 32. Ni Riain A, Langton D, Loughrey E, Bury G. Deaths in general practice: an Irish national profile. Irish Journal of Medical Science. 2001; 170(3): 189-91.

- 33. Schroder C, Seely JF. Pall-Connect: a support network for community physicians. Journal of Palliative Care. 1998; 14(3): 98-101.
- 34. Yamagishi A, Morita T, Miyashita M, Ichikawa T, Akizuki N, Shirahig Y, Akiyama M, Eguchi K. Providing palliative care for cancer patients: the view and exposure of community general practitioners and district nurses in Japan. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2012; 43(1): 59-67.
- 35. Murray SA, Boyd K, Sheikh A. Palliative care in chronic illness: we need to move from prognostic paralysis to active total care. British Medical Journal. 2005; 330:611-2.
- 36. Abarshi EA, Echteld MA, Van den Block L, Donker GE, Deliens L, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD. Recognising patients who will die in the near future: a nationwide study via the Dutch Sentinel Network of GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 2011; DOI: 10.3399/bjgp11X578052.
- 37. Calam B, Far S, Andrew R. Discussions of "code status" on a family practice teaching ward: What barriers do family physicians face? Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2000; 163(10): 1255-9.
- 38. Curtis JR. Patrick DL, Caldwell ES, Collier AC. Why don't patients and physicians talk about end-of-life care? Barriers to communication for patients with Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome and their primary care clinicians. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2000; 160: 1690-6.
- 39. Slort W, Schweitzer BPM, Blankenstein AH, Abarshi EA, Riphage II, Echteld MA Aaronson NK, Van der Horst HE, Deliens L. Perceived barriers and facilitators for general practitioner-patient communication in palliative care: a systematic review. Palliative Medicine. 2011; 25(6): 613-29.
- 40. Haines A, Booroff A. Terminal care at home: perspective from general practice. British Medical Journal. 1986; 292: 1051-3.
- 41. de Maturana AL, Morago V, San Emeterio E, Gorostiza J, Arrate AO. Attitudes of general practitioners in Bizkaia, Spain, toward the terminally ill patient. Palliative Medicine. 1993; 7: 39-45.
- 42. Grande GE, Barclay SIG, Todd CJ. Difficulty of symptom control and general practitioners' knowledge of patients' symptoms. Palliative Medicine. 1997; 11: 399-406.
- 43. Samant RS, Fitzgibbon E, Meng J, Graham ID. Family physicians' perspectives regarding palliative radiotherapy. Radiotherapy and Oncology. 2006; 78: 101-6.
- 44. Vulto A, van Bommel J, Poortmans P, Lybeert M, Louwman M, Baart R, Coeberg JW. General practitioners and referral for palliative radiotherapy: a population-based survey. Radiation and Oncology. 2009; 91: 267-70.

- 45. Leemans K, Van den Block L, Bilsen J, Cohen J, Boffin N, Deliens L. Dying at home in Belgium: a descriptive GP interview study. BMC Family Practice. 2012; 13: 4.
- 46. Kelly B, Varghese FT, Burnett P, Turner J, Robertson M, Kelly P, Mitchell G, Treston P. General practitioners' experiences of the psychological aspects in the care of a dying patient. Palliative and Supportive Care. 2008; 6: 125-31.
- 47. Wetmore S. A duty to certify death: helping family doctors meet their responsibilities. Canadian Family Physician 2007; 53: 977-8.
- Nagraj S, Barclay S. Bereavement care in primary care: a systematic literature review and narrative synthesis. British Journal of General Practice. 2010; DOI: 10.3399/bjgp11X549009.
- 49. Mitchell GK, Reymond EJ, McGrath BPM. Palliative care: promoting general practice participation. Medical Journal of Australia. 2004; 180: 207-8.
- 50. Groot MM, Vernooij-Dassen MJFJ, Verhagen SCA, Crul BJP, Grol RPTM. Obstacles to the delivery of primary palliative care as perceived by GPs. Palliative Medicine. 2007; 21: 697-703.
- 51. Yuen KJ, Behrndt MM, Jacklyn C, Mitchell GK. Palliative care at home: general practitioners working with palliative care teams. Medical Journal of Australia. 2003; 179: S38-S40.
- 52. Groot MM, Vernooij-Dassen MJFJ, Crul BJP, Grol RPTM. General practitioners (GPs) and palliative care: perceived tasks and barriers in daily practice. Palliative Medicine. 2005; 19: 111-8.
- 53. Groot MM, Vernooij-Dassen MJFJ, Courtens AM, Kuin A, van der Linden BA, Zuylen L, Crul BJP, Grol RPTM. Requests from professional care providers for consultation with palliative care consultation teams. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2005; 13: 920-8.
- 54. Borgsteede SD, Deliens L, Van der Wal G, Francke AL, Stalman WAB, vanEijk JT. Interdisciplinary cooperation of GPs in palliative care at home: a nationwide survey in the Netherlands. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2007; 25: 226-31.
- 55. Brazil K, Bainbridge D, Sussman J, Whelan T, O'Brian MA, Pyette N. Coordination of palliative cancer care in the community: "unfinished business". Supportive Care in Cancer. 2009; 17: 819-28.
- 56. Smyth D, Farnell A, Dutu G, Lillis S, Lawrenson R. Palliative care provision by rural general practitioners in New Zealand. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2009; 13(3): 247-50.

- 57. Walshe C, Todd C, Caress AL, Chew-Graham C. Judgments about fellow professionals and the management of patients receiving palliative care in primary care: a qualitative study., British Journal of General Practice. 2008; 58: 264-72.
- 58. Addington-Hall JM, MacDonald LD, Anderson HR, Chamberlain J, Freeling P, Bland JM, Raftery J. Randomised controlled trial of effects of coordinating care for terminally ill cancer patients. British Medical Journal. 1992; 305: 1317-22.
- 59. Coate Johnston S, Pfeifer MP. Patient and physician roles in end-of-life decision making. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 1998; 13: 43-5.
- 60. Shaw K, Badger FJ, Brook L, Brown Z, Cuddeford L, Thomas K. The role of general practitioners in children's end-of-life care: a survey of preferred involvement. Palliative Medicine 2010; 24(2): 196-7.
- 61. Seamark DA, Thorne CP, Jones RVH, Pereira Gray CJ, Searle JF. Knowledge and perceptions of a domiciliary hospice service among general practitioners and community nurses. British Journal of General Practice. 1993; 43: 57-9.
- 62. Mitchell G, Cherry M, Kennedy R, Weeden K, Burridge L, Clavarino A, O'Rourke P, Del Mar C. General practitioner, specialist providers case conference in palliative care: lessons learned from 56 case conferences. Australian Family Physician. 2005; 34(5): 389-92.
- 63. Mitchell GK, Del Mar CB, O'Rourke PK, Clavarino AM. Do case conferences between general practitioners and specialist palliative care services improve quality of life? A randomized controlled trial (ISRCTN 52269003). Palliative Medicine. 2008; 22: 904-12.
- 64. Davison G, Shelby-James TM. Palliative care case conferencing involving general practice: an argument for a facilitated standard process. Australian Health Review. 2012; 36: 115-9.
- 65. Goldschmidt D, Groenvold M, Johnsen AT, Stromgren AS, Krasnik A, Schmidt L. Cooperating with a palliative home-care team: expectations and evaluations of GPs and district nurses. Palliative Medicine. 2005; 19: 241-50.
- 66. Copperman H. Domiciliary hospice care: a survey of general practitioners. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners. 1988; 38: 411-3.
- 67. Walsh D, Regan J. Terminal care in the home: the general practice perspective. Irish Medical Journal. 2001; 94(1): 9-11.
- 68. Marshall D, Howell D, Brazil K, Howard M, Taniguchi A. Enhancing family physician capacity to deliver quality palliative home care: an end-of-life, shared-care model. Canadian Family Physician. 2008; 54: 1703.e1-7.

- Aldridge D. A team approach to terminal care: personal implications for general practitioners. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners. 1987; 37: 364.
- MacKenzie MA. The interface of palliative care, oncology and family practice: a view from a family practitioner. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1998; 158: 1705-7.
- 71. Hanratty B. GP views on developments in palliative care services. Palliative Medicine. 2000; 14: 223-4.
- 72. Shipman C, Addington-Hall J, Barclay S, Briggs J, Cox I, Daniels L, Millar D. How and why do GPs use specialist palliative care services? Palliative Medicine. 2002; 16: 241-6.
- 73. Ogle K, Mavis B, Wang T. Hospice and primary care physicians: attitudes, knowledge, and barriers. American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Care. 2003; 20(1): 41-51.
- 74. Han PKJ, Arnold RM. Palliative care services, patient abandonment, and the scope of physicians' responsibilities in end-of-life care. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2005; 8(6): 1238-45.
- 75. Pugsley R, Pardoe J. The specialist contribution to the care of the terminally ill patient: support or substitution? Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners. 1986; 36: 347-8.
- 76. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2004. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/surveys/2004-survey/2004-full-download/</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- 77. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2007. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/result/2007-national-results/</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- Grande GE, Todd C, Barclay SIG, Farquhar MC. A randomized controlled trial of a hospital at home service for the terminally ill. Palliative Medicine. 2000; 14(5): 375-85.
- 79. McWhinney IR, Freeman T. Textbook of Family Medicine. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- 80. Phillips WR, Haynes DG. The domain of family practice: scope, role, and function. Family Medicine. 2001; 33(4): 273-7.
- 81. Braunack-Mayer A. What makes a good GP? An empirical perspective on virtue in general practice. Journal of Medical Ethics. 2005; 31: 82-7.

- 82. Starfield B. Primary care: balancing health needs, services, and technology. New York: Oxford Univesity Press; 1998.
- Kringos DS, Boerma WGW, Bourgueil Y et al. The European primary care monitor: structure, process and outcome indicators. BMC Family Practice. 2010; 11: 81.
- Walsh AE, Konkin J, Tannenbaum D, Kerr J, Organek AJ, Parsons E, Saucier D, Shaw E, Oandasan I. Comprehensive care and education. Canadian Family Physician. 2011; 57: 1475-6.
- 85. Glazier RH, Klein-Geltink J, Kopp A, Sibley LM. Capitation and enhanced feefor-service models for primary care reform: a population-based evaluation. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2009; 180(11):E72-E81.
- 86. Russell G, Dahrouge S, Tuna M, Hogg W, Geneau R, Gebremichael G. Getting it all done. Organizational factors linked with comprehensive primary care. Family Practice. 2010; 27: 535-41.
- 87. Jaakkimainen RL, Schultz SE, Glazier RH, Abrahams C, Verma S. Tracking family medicine graduates. Where do they go, what services do they provide and whom do they see? BMC Family Practice. 2012; 13: 26.
- 88. Chan BTB. The declining comprehensiveness of primary care. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2002; 166(4): 429-34.
- 89. Tepper J. The evolving role of Canada's family physicians: 1992-2001. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Institute for Health Information; 2004.
- 90. Wong E, Stewart M. Predicting the scope of practice of family physicians. Canadian Family Physician 2010; 56:e219-25.
- 91. Rachlis V. At a crossroads: the future of comprehensive care in Canada. Canadian Family Physician. 2006; 52: 1375-6.
- 92. Hutchinson A, Becker LA. How the philosophies, styles and methods of family medicine affect the research agenda. Annals of Family Medicine 2004; 2(Suppl 2):S41-S44.
- 93. Levesque JF, Haggerty J, Beninguisse G, Burge F, Gass D, Beaulieu MD, Pinealt R, Santor D, Beaulieu C. Mapping the coverage of attributes in validated instruments that evaluate primary healthcare from the patient perspective. BMC Family Practice 2012; 13:20.
- 94. Carroll JC, Brown JB, Reid AJ. Female family physicians in obstetrics: achieving personal balance. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1995; 153(9): 1283–9.

- 95. Schrager S, Kolan A, Dottl SL. Is that your pager or mine: a survey of women academic family physicians in dual physician families. Wisconsin Medical Journal. 2007; 106(5): 251-5.
- 96. Kneeland PP, Kneeland C, Wachter RM. Bleeding talent: a lesson from industry on embracing physician workforce challenges. Journal of Hospice Medicine. 2010; 5: 306-10.
- 97. Koppula S, Brown JB, Jordan JM. Experiences of family physicians who practise primary care obstetrics in groups. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada. 2011; 33(2): 121-6.
- 98. Dunn PM, Arnetz BB, Christensen JF, Homer L. Meeting the imperative to improve physician well-being: assessment of an innovative program. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2007; 22 (11): 1544-52.
- 99. Frank E, Segura C. Health practices of Canadian physicians. Canadian Family Physician. 2009; 55: 810-1.e1-7.
- 100. Compton MT, Frank E. Mental health concerns among Canadian physicians: results from the 2007-2008 Canadian Physician Health Study. Comprehensive Psychiatry. 2011; 52: 542-7.
- 101. Buddeberg-Fischer B, Stamm, M, Buddeberg C, Klaghofer R. The new generation of family physicians career motivation, life goals and work-life balance. Swiss Medical Weekly. 2008; 138: 305-12.
- 102. Irish B, Lake J. When and why do doctors decide to become general practitioners? Implications for recruitment into UK general practice specialty training. Education for Primary Care. 2011; 22: 20-4.
- 103. Kiolbassa K, Miksch A, Hermann K, Loh A, Szecsenyi J, Joos S, Goetz K. Becoming a general practitioner – Which factors have most impact on career choice of medical students? BMC Family Practice. 2011; 12: 25.
- 104. Walker KL, Ryan G, Rmey R, Nunez FL, Beltran R, Splawn RG, Brown AF. Recruiting and retaining primary care physicians in urban underserved communities: the importance of having a mission to serve. American Journal of Public Health. 2010; 100: 2168-75.
- 105. Lorant V, Geerts C, Duschesnes C, Goedhuys J, Tyssaert, Remmen R, D'hoore W. Attracting and retaining GPs: a stakeholder survey of priorities. British Journal of General Practice. 2011; DOI: 10.3399/bjgp11X583191.

106. Shipman C, Gysels M, White P, Worth Al, Murray SA, Barclay S, Forrest S, Shepherd J, Dale J, Dewar S, Peters M, White S, Richardson A, Lorenz K. Koffman J, Higginson IJ. Improving generalist end of life care: national consultation with practitioners, commissioners, academics, and service user groups. British Medical Journal. 2008; 337: a1720.

# Chapter 3

# 3 Family physicians' availability to care for community patients at end of life: A secondary analysis of family physician survey data

# 3.1 Introduction

# 3.1.1 Background

The need for community-based medical care for patients approaching end of life is growing rapidly. Two trends are primarily responsible for driving this accelerating demand for community palliative care. The first is our aging population. In 2010, there were approximately 247,200 deaths in Canada. By 2050, this number is projected to rise by more than 91% to approximately 473,300 per year<sup>1</sup>. Equally important is the trend away from hospital-based care at end of life. Between 1994 and 2004 the proportion of non-hospital deaths in Canada rose dramatically from 22.3% to 39.4% of all deaths<sup>2</sup>. The net effect of these trends is an exponential increase in the number of community-dwelling patients who will spend their final days at home.

While specialty palliative medicine services play a role in many communities, family physicians will continue to be the primary or exclusive providers of medical services for most community patients at end of life. The central role of family physicians in provision of medical care for community patients at end of life has been clearly shown<sup>3</sup> and reflects both widely-held patient preferences<sup>4-9</sup>, the 'cradle to grave' philosophy of family medicine as a discipline<sup>10-14</sup>, and the values of many individual family physicians<sup>15-20</sup>.

However, it cannot be assumed that having a family physician guarantees adequate access to palliative care. For patients approaching end of life, visits to the family physician's office become impossible. Urgent medical needs outside of usual office hours are likely to arise. Not all family physicians feel comfortable in providing all aspects of palliative care<sup>21-28</sup>. Family physicians' willingness to provide palliative care, make house calls, and see patients after hours when necessary are all important elements of access to medical care for community patients at end of life<sup>29,30</sup>. The patients of

family physicians who do not provide palliative care, or who provide it in the office but do not do house calls, or who make house calls but have no provision for after-hours coverage, have only partial access to necessary medical care.

Unfortunately, no published study directly addresses the relationship among these three critical elements of access to family physician care for community patients at end of life. There are studies on family physician provision of palliative care that address questions of house calls but not after-hours coverage<sup>31-36</sup>. Another body of literature (mostly from the United Kingdom) focuses on after-hours provision of care for community palliative care patients by on-call physicians, but these studies do not explore the activities of the patients' primary family physicians<sup>37-42</sup>. There is need, therefore, for research which explores simultaneously all three elements of family physicians' availability to care for community patients at end of life.

#### 3.1.2 Research question

Using secondary analysis of data collected from a survey of all family physicians in London, Ontario and adjacent rural counties, the aim of the present study was to explore family physicians' self-reported provision of palliative care, house calls, and availability to see patients after hours. Together, these three elements constituted each physician's *potential availability* to provide care for community patients at end of life. The specific research questions were:

- 1. To what extent do family physician respondents to a 2004 regional physician survey report providing access to medical services related to the care of community patients at end of life (palliative care, house calls, and after hours visits)?
- 2. What factors are associated with these family physicians' potential availability to care for community patients at end of life?

# 3.2 Methods

# 3.2.1 Study design and sample

This study was a secondary analysis of data collected in a 2004 cross-sectional survey of all family physicians in London, Ontario and adjacent rural counties<sup>43</sup>. This 85-item postal survey was approved by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (Appendix E), and was administered using modified Dillman methods. Response rate to the survey was 731/1044 (70.0%). The final sample for this study consisted of all family physicians who described themselves as providing 'comprehensive family medicine' and who had complete responses on the survey questions used in the analysis for this study (n = 482). All analyses were conducted in SPSS version 20.0<sup>44</sup>.

#### 3.2.2 Variables

From family physicians' responses to 18 of the 85 questions on the survey, 1 dependent variable was created and 14 independent variables were identified for the current study. Detailed variable definitions are provided in Appendix F. The dependent variable was potential availability to care for community patients at end of life (potential availability), and was comprised of three elements: provision of palliative care, provision of house calls, and availability to see non-hospitalized patients after hours as required. Family physicians with positive responses to all three elements were considered 'high availability', those with positive responses to any one or two of the elements were considered 'moderate availability'.

The 14 independent variables were in two categories: 7 family physician characteristics (age, gender, years in practice, complete family medicine residency, additional palliative care training, international medical graduate, attitude toward palliative care at home) and 7 practice characteristics (rural/urban, solo/group, remuneration model, teaching practice, number of patients per week,  $\geq 1$  free weekday clinical session,  $\geq 1$  after hours clinical session).

#### 3.2.3 Analysis

Nonparametric techniques were used for analyses because the dependent variable could not be assumed to have either normal distribution or equal variances. The association between the dependent variable (potential availability) and each of the 14 independent variables was tested separately using 3x2 chi-square for nominal independent variables and independent sample Kruskal-Wallis H for continuous independent variables. Multivariable analysis, including all independent variables significantly associated with potential availability in the bivariable analysis, was then performed using multinomial logit with moderate availability as the reference category<sup>45,46</sup>.

#### 3.2.4 Power calculation and missing values analysis

Power calculations, performed with G\*Power version 3<sup>47</sup>, demonstrated that the sample with complete data on all variables had adequate power to detect a moderate effect size for each independent variable (see Appendix G). For simplicity of analysis and clarity of presentation of results, respondents with incomplete data were thus excluded from the final sample. Missing values analysis suggested that inclusion of respondents with incomplete data would have had minimal impact on study results (Appendix H).

# 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Study sample

Figure 3-1 summarizes identification of the sample for this study. Of 731 total family physician respondents to the survey, 583 described themselves as practicing 'comprehensive family medicine'. Of these comprehensive family physicians, 10 lacked a response on at least one survey item needed to construct the dependent variable, and an additional 95 lacked at least one independent variable data element (see Appendix H). The final sample thus consisted of 482 family physicians with complete data.


Figure 3-2: Identification of the study sample.

FP - family physician; DV - dependent variable; IV - independent variable

## 3.3.2 Potential availability

Family physicians were grouped into high, moderate, and low potential availability categories based on provision of palliative care, house calls, and availability to see non-hospitalized patients after hours as shown in Figure 3-2. Palliative care, house calls, and

availability after hours were provided by, respectively, 75.7%, 70.3% and 29.5% of family physicians in the sample. When combined into the dependent variable potential availability to care for community patients at end of life, 22.2% of the family physicians were in the high availability category, 64.3% in the moderate availability category, and 13.5% in the low availability category (Figure 3-2). Table 3-1 shows the characteristics of each of these potential availability category groups.





Of all comprehensive FPs with complete data (n=482): Palliative care YES 365 (75.7%), NO 117 (24.3%); House calls YES 339 (70.3%) NO 143 (29.7%); Available after hours YES 142 (29.5%), NO 340 (70.5%).

Independent Variable	All Comprehensive	Potential Availability Category		
Variabic	FPs (n=482)	High (n= 107)	Moderate (n = 310)	Low (n = 65)
Family Physician Characte	eristics			
Age	48.4 (10.3)	49.2 (8.6)	49.2 (10.5)	43.6 (10.3)
Gender (% male)	71.6	76.6	75.5	44.6
Years in practice	21.9 (10.8)	22.7 (9.2)	22.6 (11.1)	16.8 (10.5)
Family medicine residency (%)	56.6	57.0	54.5	66.2
Additional palliative care training (%)	11.2	18.7	10.0	4.6
International medical graduate (%)	15.4	15.0	13.5	24.6
Attitude toward palliative care at home	3.0 (0.80)	3.4 (0.64)	3.0 (0.75)	2.3 (0.78)
Practice Characteristics				
Rural vs. urban (% rural)	52.1	50.5	59.0	21.5
Group vs.solo practice (% group)	55.8	61.7	54.2	53.8
AFP vs. FFS remuneration (% AFP)	44.2% AFP	61.7	44.5	13.8
Teaching practice (%)	32.6	41.1	32.9	16.9
Number of patients per week (median)	150 range <25 to >250	150 range 25 to >250	150 range <25 to >250	125 range <25 to >250
≥1 free weekday clinical session (%)	73.0	73.8	75.2	61.5
$\geq$ 1 after hours clinical session (%)	45.2	61.7	40.3	41.5

#### Table 3-1: Characteristics of the sample.

For continuous variables (age, years in practice, attitude toward FP involvement in palliative care at home), numbers presented are the group mean, with the standard deviations in parentheses. For number of patients per week, the numbers presented are the group median.

For attitude toward FP involvement in palliative care at home, the survey item was a 4-point likert-type item with higher numbers representing stronger agreement.

FFS - fee for service; AFP - alternate funding plan

The associations between the independent variables (7 family physician characteristics and 7 practice characteristics) and potential availability are summarized in Table 3-2. Age, gender, years in practice, additional training in palliative care, attitude toward palliative care at home, rural practice location, alternate funding remuneration, being a teaching practice, and having at least one scheduled after-hours clinical session were all significantly associated with potential availability. Completion of a family medicine residency, obtaining a medical degree from outside of North America (international medical graduate), group practice, number of patients seen per week, and having at least one free weekday clinical session were not significantly associated with potential availability.

Independent Variable	Variable Type	Statistical Test	p-Value
Family Physician Characteristics			
Age	Continuous	independent samples Kruskal-Wallis	0.000*
Gender	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.000*
Years in practice	Continuous	independent samples Kruskal-Wallis	0.000*
Completed family medicine residency	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.226
Additional palliative care training	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.009*
International medical graduate	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.079
Attitude toward palliative care at home	Continuous	independent samples Kruskal-Wallis	0.000*
Practice Characteristics			
Rural vs. urban	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.000*
Group vs. solo	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.382
AFP vs. FFS remuneration	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.000*
Teaching practice (y/n)	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.004*
Number of patients per week	Continuous	independent samples Kruskal-Wallis	0.069
$\geq$ 1 free weekday clinical session	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.078
$\geq 1$ after hours clinical session	Nominal	3x2 chi square	0.001*

\**statistically significant at p<0.05.* 

Table 3-2: Bivariable analysis results.

The results of the multivariable analysis, which included all independent variables found to be significantly associated with potential availability, are summarized in Table 3-3 and Table 3-4. With moderate availability as the reference category, family physicians in the low availability category were more likely to be female, urban, and funded exclusively by fee-for-service, and less likely to be in teaching practices, or strongly endorse FP participation in home palliative care (Table 3-3). The group of high potential availability family physicians differed from the moderate availability group in location (more urban), remuneration (more alternate funding), likelihood of having at least one after hours clinical session per week (greater) and attitude toward FP participation in palliative care at home (more strongly endorsed) (Table 3-4).

Independent Variable	<b>Odds Ratio</b>	p-Value	Interpretation	
Family Physician Characteristics				
Age	0.967	0.056		
Male gender	0.347	0.004*	Low potential availability FPs less likely to be male	
Additional palliative care training	0.427	0.223		
Attitude toward palliative care at home	0.368	0.000*	Low potential availability FPs less strongly endorse FP participation in home palliative care	
Practice Characteristics				
Rural practice location	0.323	0.003*	Low potential availability FPs less likely to be rural.	
AFP remuneration	0.330	0.009*	Low potential availability FPs less likely to be paid by AFP	
Teaching practice	0.398	0.026*	Low potential availability FPs less likely to be in teaching practices	
$\geq$ 1 after hours clinical session	1.429	0.299		

\**statistically significant at p<0.05.* 

Table 3-3: Multinomial logit results - low vs. moderate potential availability family physicians.

Independent Variable	Odds Ratio	p-Value	Interpretation
Family Physician Characteristics			
Age	0.997	0.822	
Male gender	1.133	0.564	
Additional palliative care training	1.629	0.154	
Attitude toward palliative care at home	2.450	0.000*	High potential availability FPs more strongly endorse FP participation in home palliative care
Practice Characteristics			
Rural practice location	0.517	0.010*	High potential availability FPs less likely to be rural.
AFP remuneration	1.971	0.008*	High potential availability FPs more likely to be paid by AFP
Teaching practice	1.320	0.283	
≥1 after hours clinical session	2.212	0.001*	High potential availability FPs more likely to have at least one after hours clinical session

\**statistically significant at p<0.05.* 

#### Table 3-4: Multinomial logit results – high vs. moderate potential availability family physicians.

## 3.4 Discussion

## 3.4.1 Principal results

Most family physicians reported providing palliative care and house calls, but only a minority were available to see patients after-hours if necessary. When combined into a composite variable with three levels (low, moderate, and high potential availability), the majority of comprehensive family physicians were in the moderate potential availability category. Fewer than 1 in 4 fell into the high potential availability category (providing palliative care, house calls and after-hours visits) and approximately 1 in 8 were in the low potential availability category (offering neither palliative care, house calls, nor after hours visits).

Two variables were positively associated with potential availability across both availability category comparisons: positive attitude toward FP provision of palliative care at home, and remuneration by alternate funding plan. Family physicians from rural practices were significantly less likely to appear in either the low or high potential availability categories.

## 3.4.2 Interpretation

## 3.4.2.1 Provision of palliative care and house calls

The proportion of FPs providing palliative care in the current study (75.7%) was similar to that found general practitioners in Sydney, Australia in 2007 (75%)<sup>48</sup>, but higher than among Quebec City, Canada region family physicians in 1998  $(62\%)^{31}$ , and higher than among family physician respondents to the National Physician Surveys of 2004  $(36.4\%)^{49}$ , 2007  $(54.6\%)^{50}$  and 2010  $(45.7\%)^{51}$ .

The results of the current study suggest a high level of engagement in palliative care in the London region, but there may be additional reasons for the difference between results of the current study and other Canadian findings. Because other studies included all family physicians, the higher proportion in the current study may be due in part to the exclusion of non-comprehensive family physicians (such as those who practice only emergency medicine or psychotherapy) who may be less likely to have primary responsibility for community patients at end of life.

When considering only those family physicians who report providing palliative care, the proportions which offer house calls and provide after hours coverage in the current study were similar to those found in Aubin's survey of family physicians in the Quebec City region. The proportion of southwestern Ontario family physicians in the current study who offer house calls (80.5%) was slightly higher than in the Quebec City study  $(77\%)^{31}$ , while the proportion providing after hours coverage was lower (32.9% in southwestern Ontario vs. 38.8% in Quebec City).

# 3.4.2.2 Interpreting the relationships among the availability categories

The categories used in the present study (low, moderate, and high potential availability) are advantageous in their conceptual simplicity and face validity: some comprehensive family physicians are more available than others to provide care for their community patients at end of life. Misinterpretations of the results could arise, however, if one assumed these categories denoted a greater or lesser amount of a single, cohesive, internally-consistent phenomenon called 'potential availability'. The study design took three separate dichotomous variables (provision of palliative care, provision of house calls, and availability to see non-hospitalized patients after hours) and combined them into a dependent variable (potential availability). There is no reason to assume that factors associated with potential availability would have similar influences (in either magnitude or direction) on each element of the dependent variable definition. The dependent variable construct, and the categories within it, are thus adequate to illustrate the existence of variation in potential availability, and to demonstrate that this variation is non-random. The results of this study do not, however, imply a straightforward linear progression from low to moderate to high availability.

## 3.4.2.3 Predictors of potential availability

The associations between potential availability and family physician attitude toward participation in home palliative care and remuneration structure are potentially important. In the absence of specific directives from regulatory authorities requiring particular arrangements of family physician care for community patients at end of life, practice patterns may be shaped by perceived professional expectations, personal preferences or economic considerations. The results of this study illustrate the importance of such factors on potential availability to provide community-based end of life care.

Family physician respondents' attitudes toward participation in home palliative care will incorporate both perceptions of their professional obligations and individual personal preferences. It is not surprising that attitude was strongly associated with potential availability across all three categories of comparison in the current study. Family physicians who believe strongly in the importance of their participation in palliative care at home would presumably be more likely to make themselves available for these patients. Other research suggests that this is a modifiable trait: family physicians' attitudes toward palliative care can change with participation in continuing education programs<sup>52</sup>. The results of the current study support the assertion that efforts to change attitudes may translate into improved access to care.

While the current study was not designed to explore the nature of the relationship between remuneration structure (fee-for-service vs. alternate funding plan) and potential availability, it clearly demonstrated the existence of such a relationship. The existence of a relationship between economic factors and practice patterns reflects similar findings elsewhere<sup>53,54</sup>.

## 3.4.2.4 Rural practice location and potential availability

Rural practice location was significantly associated with availability category in both the low-versus-moderate and moderate-versus-high multinomial logit analyses, but in opposite directions. In the low-versus-moderate comparison, family physicians from rural practices were more likely to be in the greater availability category, but in the moderate-versus-high comparison rural family physicians were more likely to be in the lesser availability categories. A post-hoc analysis showed that a greater proportion of rural than urban family physicians provided palliative care and house calls. However, the proportion of family physicians available to see non-hospitalized patients after hours was lower among rural family physicians (though not statistically significant). Rural practice location thus appears to have opposing effects on different elements of the dependent variable definition, the net effect of which is to cluster rural family physicians in the moderate potential availability category.

#### 3.4.3 Implications of the results

The results of this study demonstrate that for community patients at end of life, having a family physician does not automatically guarantee access to necessary care in a timely fashion. Even among family physicians who describe themselves as providing 'comprehensive family medicine', some family physicians are more available than others.

If equitable access to care is a goal of the healthcare system, then variety in patterns of practice must be taken into account. Failure to do so may result in gaps in access to medical care (if it is assumed that all family physicians will provide 24/7 access to palliative care at home) or unnecessary redundancies (if it is assumed that they won't).

Second, access to medical care for community patients at end of life must be clearly defined in terms of individual elements of access to care. If the goal for community patients at end of life is 24/7 access to palliative care at home, then the relevant elements of access (conceived in this study as provision of palliative care, provision of house calls, and availability to see non-hospitalized patients after hours) need to be defined and measured independently. Simply asking family physicians whether they provide palliative care will not provide sufficient information to determine whether community patients at end of life have adequate access to necessary medical care.

Third, because attitudes regarding FP participation in palliative care at home, and remuneration by alternate funding plan were strongly associated with potential availability, efforts to enhance family physician provision of medical care for community patients at end of life should begin by focusing on these factors.

Fourth, attempts to enhance family physician availability to provide medical care for community patients at end of life may be more likely to succeed if they are focused on a specific element of access and tailored to appropriate subsets of family physicians. For example, an enhancement in fee codes payable for palliative care house calls may be likely to increase house calls among fee-for-service family physicians. It is less likely, however, to alter patterns of availability for after hours services among these physicians, or to increase house calls by family physicians who receive remuneration through a salaried or capitation-based alternate funding plan.

#### 3.4.4 Limitations

Several limitations of this study should be noted. First, the study does not reveal family physicians' <u>actual</u> availability to care for community patients at end of life. As a secondary analysis of a survey regarding their overall practices, the current study took

items referring to the practice as a whole (e.g. availability to make house calls) and interpreted them as referring directly to community patients at end of life. It may be that if questioned specifically about their patterns of care for community patients approaching end of life, some of the respondents who did not report providing house calls or afterhours visits as part of their overall practice would tell us that while they do not offer these to most patients in their practices, that they do provide such services for their patients approaching end of life. Thus it may be that this study underestimates family physicians' availability to provide house calls and after-hours visits to community patients at end of life.

Second, the associations described in this study do not necessarily imply causation. Family physicians who believe strongly in the importance of their participation in palliative care at home would likely make themselves available for these patients; but it is also plausible that family physicians who provided this care came to be convinced about its importance through their experiences. Similarly, remuneration through an alternate funding plan could either influence, or be influenced by, family physicians' potential availability to care for community patients at end of life, or an independent factor may have a similar influence on both items.

Third, as with all studies based on self-report, this study is potentially subject to social desirability bias (the tendency of respondents to answer questions in a manner they perceive will be viewed favorably by others). The anonymous nature of the survey seeks to minimize this bias, yet the ideal study would observe family physicians' actual behaviours of care provision for community patients at end of life rather than relying on self-report. Fourth, the sample for this study was limited to one geographic area (southwestern Ontario) and may not be generalizable to family physicians in other jurisdictions. Finally, the data upon which this study is based are now almost ten years old. It may well be that an updated study would reveal important changes in practice patterns over the past decade.

#### 3.4.5 Call for further research

The findings of this study demonstrate the need for additional research in at least three directions. First, the results of this study need to be confirmed (or refuted) based upon more recent data from a wider sample of family physicians. The National Physician Survey, distributed to all physicians across the country every three years, contains almost all of the data elements utilized in the current study. It would provide appropriate data for a national study analogous to this regional one.

Second, elements of family physician availability would be ideally measured by observation of physician behaviour rather than self-report. For fee-for-service physicians and alternate funding plan physicians under certain models, billing data provide an opportunity to measure behaviour with respect to house calls, after hours visits, and (with significant limitations) provision of palliative care. Physician and practice characteristics such as those examined in this study can be linked to this billing data from existing provincial data holdings, enabling more robust modeling of associations between physician characteristics, practice characteristics and patterns of care for community patients at end of life.

Third, we need to explore the relationship between family physician patterns of care, and patient outcomes. Does family physician availability actually affect patient outcomes? To what degree? Which elements of availability? How are these affects modified by context (e.g. the presence or absence of a specialist community palliative care consultation service)? Some of these questions may be answerable with existing provincial data holdings, while others would require the collection of new data.

#### 3.4.6 Conclusions

Family physicians in London, Ontario and region vary in their potential availability to provide care to community patients at end of life. Attitude toward FP participation in palliative care at home and remuneration by alternate funding plan were both strongly associated with potential availability across availability categories. System design must take into account variability among FPs in their availability to care for this vulnerable patient population.

## 3.5 References

- Statistics Canada. Population projections for Canada, provinces and territories, 2009-2036. Catalogue no., 91-520-X. Available at <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/91-520-x/91-520-x2010001-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed November 10, 2012
- 2. Wilson DM, Truman CD, Thomas R, Fainsinger R, Kovacs-Burns K, Froggatt K, Justice C. The rapidly changing location of death in Canada, 1994-2004. Social Science & Medicine. 2009; 68: 1752-8.
- Manuel DG, Maaten S, Thiruchelvam D, Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R. Primary care in the health care system. In: Jaakkimainen L, Upshur R, Klein-Geltink J, Leong A, Maaten S, Schultz S, Wang L, editors. Primary care in Ontario: ICES Atlas. Toronto: Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences; 2006.
- 4. Charlton RC. Attitudes toward care of the dying: a questionnaire survey of general practice attenders. Family Practice. 1991; 8: 356-9.
- 5. Bruera E, Neumann CM, Gagnon B, Brenneis C, Kneisler P, Selmser P, et al. Edmonton regional palliative care program: impact on patterns of terminal cancer care. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1999; 161: 290-3.
- 6. Norman A, Sisler J, Hack T, Harlos M. Family physicians and cancer care: palliative care patients' perspectives. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 2009-12.
- 7. Michiels E, Deschepper R, Van der Kelen G, Bernheim JL, Mortier F, Vander Stichele R, Deliens L. The role of general practitioners in continuity of care at the end of life: a qualitative study of terminally ill patients and their next of kin. Palliative Medicine. 2007; 21: 409-15.
- Han PKJ, Rayson D. The coordination of primary and oncology specialty care at the end of life. Journal of the National Cancer Institute Monograph. 2010; 40: 31-7.
- 9. Brogaard T, Jensen AB, Sokolowski I, Olesen F, Neergaard MA. Who is the key worker in palliative home care? Views of patients, relatives and primary care professionals. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2011; 29: 150-6.
- 10. Longhurst MF. Dying and the family physician. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1981; 124: 552-4.
- 11. Gwinn RB. Family physicians should be experts in palliative care. American Family Physician. 2000; 61(3): 636-42.

- 12. Lehmann F, Daneault S. Palliative care: first and foremost the domain of family physicians. Canadian Family Physician. 2006; 52: 417-8.
- College of Family Physicians of Canada. Standards for Accreditation of Residency Training Programs. College of Family Physicians of Canada. Mississauga, ON; 2006.
- 14. Gulland A. GPs and nurses launch end of life care charter. British Medical Journal. 2011; 342: d3415.
- 15. Brown JB, Sangster M, Swift J. Factors influencing palliative care: qualitative study of family physicians' practices. Canadian Family Physician. 1998; 44: 1028-34.
- 16. Field D. Special not different: general practioners' accounts of their care of dying people. Social Science and Medicine. 1998; 46(9): 1111-20.
- 17. Farber SJ, Egnew TR, Herman-Bertsch JL. Issues in end-of-life care: family practice faculty perceptions. Journal of Family Practice. 1999; 49: 525-30.
- Lloyd-Williams M, Wilkinson C, Lloyd-William F. General practitioners in North Wales: current experiences of palliative care. European Journal of Cancer Care. 2000; 9: 138-43.
- 19. Burge F, McIntyre P, Twohig P, Cummings I, Kaufman D, Frager G, Pollett A. Palliative care by family physicians in the 1990s: resilience amid reform. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47(10): 1989-95.
- 20. Johansen M, Holtedahl KA, Rudebeck CE. A doctor close at hand: How GPs view their role in cancer care. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care. 2010; 28: 249–55.
- 21. de Maturana AL, Morago V, San Emeterio E, Gorostiza J, Arrate AO. Attitudes of general practitioners in Bizkaia, Spain, toward the terminally ill patient. Palliative Medicine. 1993; 7: 39-45.
- 22. Calam B, Far S, Andrew R. Discussions of "code status" on a family practice teaching ward: What barriers do family physicians face? Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2000; 163(10): 1255-9.
- 23. Curtis JR. Patrick DL, Caldwell ES, Collier AC. Why don't patients and physicians talk about end-of-life care? Barriers to communication for patients with Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome and their primary care clinicians. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2000; 160: 1690-6.
- 24. Winzelberg GS, Patrick DL, Rhodes LA, Deyo RA. Opportunities and challenges to improving end-of-life care for seriously ill elderly patients: a qualitative study of generalist physicians. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2005; 8(2): 291-9.

- 25. Groot MM, Vernooij-Dassen MJFJ, Verhagen SCA, Crul BJP, Grol RPTM. Obstacles to the delivery of primary palliative care as perceived by GPs. Palliative Medicine. 2007; 21: 697-703.
- 26. Wetmore S. A duty to certify death: helping family doctors meet their responsibilities. Canadian Family Physician 2007; 53: 977-8.
- 27. Nagraj S, Barclay S. Bereavement care in primary care: a systematic literature review and narrative synthesis. British Journal of General Practice. 2010; DOI: 10.3399/bjgp11X549009.
- 28. Leemans K, Van den Block L, Bilsen J, Cohen J, Boffin N, Deliens L. Dying at home in Belgium: a descriptive GP interview study. BMC Family Practice. 2012; 13: 4.
- 29. Robinson L, Stacy R. Palliative care in the community: setting practice guidelines for primary care teams. British Journal of General Practice. 1994; 44: 461-4.
- Borgsteede SD, Graafland-Riedstra C, Deliens L, Francke AL, van Eijk JT, Willems DL. Good end-of-life care according to patients and their GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 2006; 56: 20-6.
- 31. Aubin M, Vezina L, Allard P, Bergeron R, Lemieus AP. Les soins palliatifs: profil de pratique des medecins de la region de Quebec. Canadian Family Physician. 2001 ; 47(10): 1999-2005.
- Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G. Family physician continuity of care and emergency department use in end-of-life cancer care. Medical Care. 2003; 41(8): 992-1001.
- 33. Burge FI, Lawson B, Critchley P, Maxwell D. Transitions in care during the end of life: changes experienced following enrolment in a comprehensive palliative care program. BMC Palliative Care. 2005; 4: 3.
- 34. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Does persistent involvement by the GP improve palliative care at home for end-stage cancer patients? Palliative Medicine. 2006; 20:507-12.
- 35. Neergaard MA, Vedsted P, Olesen F, Sokolowski I, Jensen AB, Sondergaard J. Associations between home death and GP involvement in palliative cancer care. British Journal of General Practice. 2009; 59: 671-7.
- 36. Abarshi E, Echteld MA, Van den Block L, Donker G, Bossuyt N, Meeussen K, Bilsen J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B, Deliens L. Use of palliative care services and general practitioner visits at the end of life in the Netherlands and Belgium. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2011; 41(2): 436-48.

- 37. Schweitzer B, Blankenstein N, Deliens L, Van der Horst H. Out-of-hours palliative care provided by GP co-operatives in the Netherlands: a focus group study. European Journal of General Practice. 2001; 17: 160-6.
- Burt J, Barclay S, Marshall N, Shipman C, Stimson Am, Young J. Continuity within primary palliative care: an audit of general practice out-of-hours cooperatives. Journal of Public Health. 2004; 26(3): 275-6.
- 39. Worth A, Boyd K, Kendall M, Heaney D, Maclead U, Cormie P, Hockley J, Murray S. Our-of-hours palliative care: a qualitative study of cancer patients, carers and professionals. British Journal of General Practice. 2006; 56: 6-13.
- 40. Taubert M, Nelson A. 'Oh God, not a palliative': out-of-hours general practitioners within the domain of palliative care. Palliative Medicine. 2010; 24(5): 501-9.
- 41. De Bock GH, Van Kampen IM, Van der Good JH, Hamstra M, Dekker JH, Schuit KW, Van der Meer K. Transfer of information on palliative home care during the out-of-hours period. Family Practice. 2011; 28: 280-6.
- 42. Richards SH, Winder R, Seamark C, Seamrk D, Avery S, Gilbert J, Barwick A, Campbell JL. The experiences and needs of people seeking palliative health care out-of-hours: a qualitative study. Primary Health Care Research & Development. 2011; 12: 165-78.
- 43. Thind A, Feightner J, Stewart M, Thorpe C, Burt A. Who delivers preventive care as recommended? Analysis of physician and practice characteristics. Canadian Family Physician. 2008; 54(11): 1574-75.e5.
- 44. PASW Statistics 20.0 (SPSS) Release 20.0.0. IBM Corp.: Somers, NY, 2011.
- 45. Fullerton AS. A conceptual framework for ordered logistic regression models. Sociological Methods & Research. 2009; 38(2): 306-47.
- 46. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using multivariate statistics. 5th ed. Boston: Pearson; 2007.
- 47. Faul F. G\*Power Version 3.1.2. Universitat Kiel: Kiel, Germany, 2009.
- 48. Rhee JJ, Zwar N, Vagholkar S, Dennis S, Broadbent AM, Mitchell G. Attitudes and barriers to involvement in palliative care by Australian urban general practitioners. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2008; 11(7): 980-5.
- 49. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2004. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/survey/2004-survey/2004-full-download/</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.

- 50. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2007. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/result/2007-national-results/</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- 51. College of Family Physicians of Canada. National Physician Survey 2010. Available at <u>http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/2010-NationalFP-Q15.pdf</u>. Accessed November 17, 2012.
- 52. Hinkka H, Kosunen E, Metsanoja R, Lammi UK, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen P. General practitioners' attitudes and ethical decisions in end-of-life care after a year of interactive internet-based training. Journal of Cancer Education. 2002; 17(1): 12-8.
- Geue C, Skatun D, Sutton M. Economic influences on GPs' decisions to provide out-of-hours care. British Journal of General Practice. 2009; DOI: 10.3399/bjgp09X394806.
- 54. Audit Scotland. Primary care out-of-hours services. Edinburgh: Scotland, 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.auditscotland.gov.uk/docs/health/2007/nr\_070830\_out\_of\_hours.pdf</u>. Accessed January 8, 2013.

## Chapter 4

## 4 Synthesis

## 4.1 Aim of the research

The goal of this thesis was to explore the variations that exist among how family physicians organize their care activities (i.e. their patterns of care) for communitydwelling patients approaching the end of life. The investigation began with two premises. First, that the nature of existing literature on the subject necessitated an exploratory approach. Second, that this exploration should begin at the level of individual family physicians, but also contribute to a system-level understanding.

In order to address this aim, a mixed methods approach was adopted. The thesis project consisted of two component research studies: a qualitative grounded theory study based on original data collection using in-depth interviews with family physicians, and a quantitative secondary analysis of existing family physician survey data. The relationship between the components was one of simultaneous implementation, qualitative-dominant priority, with integration at the level of interpretation.

## 4.2 Review of main findings

## 4.2.1 Qualitative study

Grounded theory methodology was used to address two questions for this study: How do patterns of care for community patients at end of life differ among family physicians? What shapes the development of these differences?

While all participants endorsed the ultimate goal of helping their community patients at end of life, no two participants described providing this care in the same way. Patterns of care for community patients at end of life differed among family physicians in three dimensions: the *timing* of care activities (i.e. when they were available to provide care), the *location* of care activities (i.e. where they were available to provide care), and the

*purpose* of their care activities (i.e. the manner in which they intended their actions to address patients' need).

The overarching process which shaped individual family physician's patterns of care was summarized as *making it fit*. Participants emphasized the importance of the *contexts* (both physician context and healthcare context) in which these care activities for community patients at end of life occur, and the active process of *weighing the impact* by which family physicians consider the implications of potential adjustments to their patterns of practice. The concept of 'fit' as articulated by the participants thus had characteristics of both action (i.e. the process of making choices) and quality (i.e. the degree of alignment of the actual with a perceived ideal).

## 4.2.2 Quantitative study

This study utilized secondary analysis of existing family physician survey data to address two questions: To what extent do comprehensive family physician respondents to a 2004 regional physician survey report providing access to three medical services related to the care of community patients at end of life: palliative care, house calls, and after hours visits? What factors are associated with these family physicians' potential availability to care for community patients at end of life?

Most comprehensive family physicians reported providing palliative care (75.7%) and house calls (70.3%), but only a minority (29.5%) was available to see patients after-hours if necessary. Some family physicians provided all three services (high potential availability, 22.2%), and others provided none (low potential availability, 13.5%), but the majority (64.3%) were in the moderate potential availability category, providing one or two, but not all three of these services.

Family physicians with high potential availability were more likely to endorse the importance of family physician participation in community end of life care, and more likely to receive remuneration through an alternate funding plan. Compared to moderate potential availability physicians, those in the low potential availability category were more likely to be females and in non-teaching practices. High potential availability

physicians were more likely than moderate potential availability physicians to have at least one regular after-hours clinical session. Physicians from rural practices were less likely than urban physicians to be in either the low or high availability categories.

## 4.3 How do each study's findings inform the other?

## 4.3.1 Influence of mixed methodology on study design and analysis

As a simultaneous implementation mixed methods study with related, but separate, research questions, neither component study's design or analysis was directly dependent upon the other. However, each study was informed in some fashion by insights from the other. The influence was generally indirect, perhaps even unconscious. For example, while there was no formal change made to the semi-structured interview guide as a result of the quantitative analysis, the quantitative finding that physicians from non-teaching practices were more likely to be in the low potential availability category may have sensitized me as a qualitative researcher to explore this aspect in subsequent interviews.

In one case, the influence of one study on the other was more direct. The first draft analysis plan for the quantitative study did not include free weekday clinical sessions or scheduled after-hours clinical sessions as independent variables. However, after several of the family physicians interviewed for the qualitative study described how they would make house calls in their 'free' afternoons, the decision was made to revise the quantitative study to include the new independent variables. One of these new variables (regularly scheduled after-hours clinical session) was eventually found to be statistically significant in the multivariable analysis.

# 4.3.2 How do the quantitative results inform our interpretation of the qualitative findings?

The qualitative findings are not altered or extended, but rather affirmed by the results of the quantitative component of the thesis. While the survey was not designed to capture the same range of practice pattern variation described by participants in the grounded theory study, it certainly affirms the existence of significant variations in patterns of care for community patients at end of life. The survey results were consistent with the qualitative observation that there appears to be no single, standard practice pattern adopted by a majority of family physicians. Variation is the norm, whether elicited in interviews or surveys.

Other aspects of the quantitative results were consistent with elements of the grounded theory developed in the qualitative study. The qualitative study emphasized the importance of both the physician context and the healthcare context. The quantitative study found relationships between potential availability and independent variables that would be part of the physician context (gender, attitude toward family physician participation in community end of life care) and with others arising from the healthcare context (teaching practice, remuneration by alternate funding plan).

## 4.3.3 How do the qualitative findings inform our interpretation of the quantitative results?

As a qualitative-dominant mixed methods design, the quantitative results were intended to inform the qualitative rather than the opposite. Nonetheless, some of the qualitative findings do provide insights into the interpretation of the quantitative results. Primarily, the qualitative findings remind us that the quantitative results provide only an incomplete snapshot which cannot be assumed to tell the whole story.

The quantitative study was a secondary analysis of data collected from a survey of family physicians' practices as a whole. It was not focused on the care of community patients at end of life. Many of the specific practice variations described by participants in the qualitative study were not considered in the survey. For example, some interviewees who did not normally provide after-hours services described giving their personal cell phone numbers to community patients approaching end of life. Because it was not offered as an option on the survey, there is no way to know from the survey how many family physicians make such special arrangements for their community patients at end of life.

Thus the qualitative findings remind us that the correct interpretation of the quantitative study is NOT that exactly 22.2% of comprehensive family physicians provide 24/7 availability for home palliative care. Rather the correct interpretation is: there is variation

in potential availability, and there are factors that are significantly associated with this variation.

## 4.4 Implications for practice

#### 4.4.1 There is no clear standard of care. Should there be?

There is no clearly defined, widely accepted standard of services which each family physician is expected to provide to her or his community patients at end of life. There are many good reasons why family physicians have wide latitude in the way they organize care for patients in their practices, but these variations lead to genuine challenges in ensuring equitable access to medical care for community patients at end of life. This reality compels us to wrestle with some difficult questions. Should there be a clearly articulated, minimum standard of services? Who should determine this? Should such a standard be applied at the level of the individual physician, or the practice? How would such standards be implemented in practice?

The need to strengthen palliative care in primary care has been recognized in Canada and elsewhere<sup>1-5</sup>. Some jurisdictions have begun taking major steps to accomplish this. In the United Kingdom, the Gold Standards Framework is an initiative developed within primary care, and now funded across the country by the National Health Service, to implement processes for patient identification, care planning and coordination, and clinical best practices into the primary care of community patients approaching end of life<sup>6</sup>. The Gold Standards Framework (GSF) has now been incorporated into the practices of more than 90% of general practitioners in the UK, and evidence is mounting for its impact<sup>7-13</sup>. While some elements of the GSF may not be directly transferrable to Canada, GSF components focusing on identifying, registering and coordinating care for patients approaching end of life could be implemented within our existing policy framework. Some researchers have begun to explore how GSF can be adapted for the Canadian context (F. Burge, personal communication).

# 4.4.2 Palliative medicine must function in both primary and consultant roles

The ideal situation would be if every Canadian had a family physician willing and able to provide primary palliative care in the patient's home. Unfortunately, at present this is not the case and, given the contextual realities which shape family physicians' choices regarding their patterns of practice, the path to achieving this goal is not straightforward. At present and for the foreseeable future, therefore, there is a need for palliative medicine services able to function in either a consultant capacity or primary care role as needed.

Palliative medicine physicians (or family physicians with a focused practice in palliative care) who make themselves available to assume primary responsibility for the care of community patients at end of life may be criticized for fostering the impression that end of life care should be provided by 'specialists' rather than family physicians, and contributing to the gradual 'de-skilling' family physicians in this realm<sup>14,15</sup>. Most family physicians may be well-equipped to manage most of the medical needs of most of their community patients at end of life. For these physicians, access to a palliative medicine consultation service will be all that is required.

However as long as family physicians are human beings, there will always be some who do not wish to look death in the eye. These family physicians will minimize their involvement with dying patients and would very happily transfer care of these patients to someone (anyone!) else. What are we to do for the patients of these physicians? For these patients, is it the right thing for us to stand on the principle that palliative medicine services can be consultant only because we fear 'de-skilling' this avoidant family physician? The variations in family physician patterns of care for community patients at end of life oblige us to grapple with this question.

## 4.4.3 System design changes have ripple effects, some unanticipated

From the perspective of a family physician researcher with an interest in the care of community patients approaching end of life, it feels natural to conclude that there is a need to promote family physician involvement in the care of these patients. Much research, cited elsewhere in this thesis, emphasizes the value of the role that family

physicians play. A strong argument can be made, from the basis of previous research as well as the variation among family physicians observed in this thesis' studies, for further system changes designed to enhance palliative care in primary care practices. However, the findings of this thesis also sound a note of caution.

System design changes will have ripple effects, some of which may be unanticipated. Two family physicians can interpret the same changes to physician remuneration as reinforcing opposite practice patterns: one saying that the changes support provision of house calls, the other claiming that they are a disincentive to providing any services outside of the office. Programs designed to support the patients of family physicians who do not provide palliative care may, directly or indirectly, make it more difficult for family physicians who wish to provide this service to do so. Family physicians who increase their investment of time or practice resources into greater availability for the care of community patients at end of life will have to withdraw that time or those practice resources from the care of another segment of their practice population. Proposals to enhance the care of community patients at end of life must consider their implications carefully, and evaluations of any changes should include an attempt to identify unintended effects.

# 4.5 Implications for research: Principles for future research on this topic

Some future research directions have already been identified in chapters 2 and 3. Three suggested principles of future research on this topic area are discussed below.

## 4.5.1 Avoid the pitfall of polysemy

In the first chapter of this thesis, we considered the problem of palliative care as a polyseme; a term with multiple, related-but-distinct, contextually-dependent meanings. Research in palliative and end of life care must scrupulously clarify terms for research questions and participants. The key distinction is whether or not, for a particular research question, the physician's *intent* matters. As discussed in chapter one, not all palliative care is end of life care, and not all care at end of life is palliative care. To what degree are

family physicians providing care given with intent consistent with the principles of hospice palliative care?

A significant gap in the literature thus far has been the absence of studies which observe family physician provision of *palliative* care. There are numerous studies which describe family physician provision of *end of life* care, typically analyzing physician billing data retrospectively using a mortality follow-back design. These studies inform us about physician activities, but they do not provide direct insight into physician intent. Studies which have tried to look at physician intent have universally relied on self-report surveys, the weaknesses of which have been previously discussed.

In recent years, some jurisdictions, including Ontario, have introduced billing codes specifically for palliative care activities. These are billing codes that physicians utilize only for patients for whom they are providing palliative care, and are thus the first readily available, directly observable marker of care activities provided with a palliative intent. It may now be possible, based on observation of behaviour rather than self-report, to distinguish between family physician provision of *end of life* care, and family physician provision of *palliative* care. This would constitute a major advance in our understanding of the care of this patient population.

# 4.5.2 Measure the impact of physician practice patterns on patient outcomes

This thesis found that family physician patterns of care for community patients at end of life vary in three dimensions: location, timing and purpose of activities. What impact do these variations have on patient outcomes? Do variations in one dimension matter more than another? Do the variations in each dimension matter equally in every geographical context? Are the effects of physician practice pattern on patient outcome modified by other clinical resources available (e.g. through home care)? Answering such questions requires us to link physician practice patterns with the relevant health outcomes of their patients.

Several studies have shown an association between one of the dimensions identified in this thesis (family physician provision of house calls) and patients' ability to die at home<sup>16-19</sup>. However, these studies were not designed to address causation. Did patients die at home because their family physicians made house calls, or did the family physicians make house calls because the patients were dying at home? Further research exploring the links between family physician practice patterns and patients outcomes is needed.

## 4.5.3 Consider the perspective of complexity theory

Complexity theory is the body of theory related to the operation of complex systems. It emphasizes, among other things, our inability to adequately understand a complex system by studying its individual components in isolation (non-decomposability)<sup>20</sup>. Understanding comes only by research at a granular level able to attend to the particular enablers and constraints manifest in the interrelations of system components<sup>21,22</sup>. Complexity theory also sensitizes researchers to the non-linear behaviour of complex systems. These systems do not behave based on linear logic, because they manifest interdependencies among diverse agents<sup>23,24</sup>. Predictable change is not achievable through top-down interventions, and these systems maintain a freedom from direct response to external influences. Attention to self-organization of local interactions is fundamental to understanding the emergence of patterns and order at higher levels<sup>25</sup>.

The processes shaping patterns of practice for community patients at end of life described in this study appear to demonstrate characteristics of a complex system. Participants' descriptions suggested aspects of non-decomposability, unclear boundaries, non-linear relationships, and intrinsic feedback loops - all typical characteristics of complex systems. This thesis was not based on a complexity theory perspective, but its findings suggest that such a lens may be beneficial for future research.

## 4.6 Summary

This thesis employed a mixed methods approach to explore the variety of ways in which family physicians in southwestern Ontario, Canada organize their care activities for community-dwelling patients who are approaching end of life, and what shapes this variation. Variations were described in three dimensions (location, timing and purpose of activities) and were shaped by complex interactions with multiple layers of context within which these care activities occur. Future research in this field would benefit from a complexity theory perspective, should clearly distinguish between end of life and palliative care, and must describe the impact of family physician practice patterns on patient outcomes.

## 4.7 References

- Cancer Care Ontario. Regional models of care for palliative cancer care: Recommendations for the organization and delivery of palliative cancer care in Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario, Provincial Palliative Care Program; 2009. Available at <u>https://www.cancercare.on.ca/common/pages/UserFile.aspx?fileId=77326</u>. Accessed January 7, 2013.
- Murray SA, Mitchell GK, Burge F, Barnard A, Nowels D, Charlton R. It's time to develop primary care services for dying. Journal of Palliative Care. 2006; 22: 115-6.
- 3. Mitchell GK, Johnson CE, Thomas K, Murray SA. Palliative care beyond that for cancer in Australia. Medical Journal of Australia. 2010; 193(2): 124-6.
- 4. Murray SA, Mason B, Donaldson A. What are the key challenges facing palliative care internationally in the next 10 years? International Journal of Palliative Nursing. 2010; 16(7): 316-9.
- 5. Osman H & Murray SA. Palliative care: the potential of primary care physicians as providers of palliative care in the community in the Eastern Mediterranean region. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal. 2012; 18(2): 174-9.
- National Gold Standards Framework Centre 2012. GSF in Primary Care. Available at <u>http://www.goldstandardsframework.org.uk/GSFInPrimary%2bCare.html</u>. Accessed January 7, 2013.
- 7. King N, Thomas K, Martin N, Bell D, Farrell S, et al. "Now nobody falls through the net": Practitioners perspectives on the Gold Standards Framework for community palliative care. Palliative Medicine 2005;19:619-27.
- 8. Dale J, Petrova M, Munday D, Koistinen-Harris J, Lall R, Thomas K. A national facilitation project to improve primary palliative care: the impact of the Gold Standards Framework on process and self-ratings of quality. Quality and Safety in Health Care, 2009; 18(3): 174-80.

- Petrova M, Dale J, Munday D, Koistinen J, Agarwal S and Lall R. The role and impact of facilitators in primary care: findings from the implementation of the Gold Standards Framework for palliative care. Family Practice. 2010; 27(1): 38-47.
- 10. Thomas K, Noble B. Improving the delivery of palliative care in general practice: an evaluation of the first phase of the Gold Standards Framework. Palliative Medicine 2007; 21: 49-53.
- 11. Walshe C, Caress A, Chew-Graham C, Todd C. Implementation and impact of the Gold Standards Framework in community palliative care: a qualitative study of three primary care trusts. Palliative Medicine. 2008; 22: 736-43.
- Shaw KL, Clifford C, Thomas K, Meehan H. Improving end of life care: a critical review of the gold standards framework in primary care. Palliative Medicine. 2010; 14(3): 317-29.
- 13. Hughes PM, Bath PA, Ahmed N, Noble B. What progress has been made towards implementing national guidance on end of life care? A national survey of UK general practices. Palliative Medicine. 2010; 24(1): 68-78.
- 14. Pugsley R, Pardoe J. The specialist contribution to the care of the terminally ill patient: support or substitution? Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners. 1986; 36: 347-8.
- 15. Librach SL. Role of family physicians in end-of-life care. Rhetoric, role, and reality. Canadian Family Physician. 2001; 47: 1941-3.
- 16. Neergaard MA, Vedsted P, Olesen F, Sokolowski I, Jensen AB, Sondergaard J. Associations between home death and GP involvement in palliative cancer care. British Journal of General Practice. 2009; 59: 671-7.
- Burge F, Lawson B, Johnston G, Cummings I. Primary care continuity and location of death for those with cancer. Journal of Palliative Medicine. 2003; 6(6): 911-8.
- 18. Aabom B, Kragstrup J, Vondeling H, Bakketeig LS, Stovring H. Populationbased study of place of death of patients with cancer: implications for GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 2005; 55: 684-9.
- 19. Abarshi E, Echteld MA, Van den Block L, Donker G, Bossuyt N, Meeussen K, Bilsen J, Onwuteaka-Philipsen B, Deliens L. Use of palliative care services and general practitioner visits at the end of life in the Netherlands and Belgium. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2011; 41(2): 436-48.
- 20. Lewin R. Complexity: life at the edge of chaos. 2nd ed. Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press; 1999.

- 21. Kannampallil TG, Schauer GF, Cohen T, Patel VL. Considering complexity in healthcare systems. Journal of Biomedical Informatics. 2011; 44(6): 943-7.
- 22. Eoyang GH, Berkas TH. Evaluating Performance in a Complex, Adaptive System (CAS). In: Lissack M, Gunz H, editors. Managing complexity in organizations: a view in many directions. Westport, Conn: Quorum Books; 1999. p. 313-35.
- 23. Goldstein J. Emergence as a construct: History and issues. Emergence 2000; 1:49-71.
- 24. McDaniel RR, Jr., Jordan ME, Fleeman BF. Surprise, Surprise, Surprise! A complexity science view of the unexpected. Health Care Management Review. 2003 Jul; 28(3):266-78.
- 25. Kauffman SA. At home in the universe: the search for laws of self-organization and complexity. New York: Oxford University Press; 1995.

## Appendices

## Appendix A: REB approval for qualitative study



#### **Office of Research Ethics**

The University of Western Ontario Room 4180 Support Services Building, London, ON, Canada N6A 5C1 Telephone: (519) 661-3036 Fax: (519) 850-2466 Email: ethics@uwo.ca Website: www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

**Use of Human Subjects - Ethics Approval Notice** 

Principal Investigator: Dr. J. Shadd Review Number: 17358E Review Date: August 26, 2010 Approved Local # of Part

 Review Date:
 August 26, 2010
 Approved Local # of Participants: 21

 Protocol Title:
 What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life?

Department and Institution: Family Medicine, University of Western Ontario

Sponsor: Ethics Approval Date: September 15, 2010

Expiry Date: August 31, 2011

Documents Reviewed and Approved: UWO Protocol, Letter of Information and Consent, Telephone Script, Recruitment letter Documents Received for Information:

This is to notify you that The University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has reviewed and granted approval to the above referenced study on the approval date noted above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

The ethics approval for this study shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request Form.

During the course of the research, no deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or consent form may be initiated without prior written approval from the HSREB except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to the subject or when the change(s) involve only logistical or administrative aspects of the study (e.g. change of monitor, telephone number). Expedited review of minor change(s) in ongoing studies will be considered. Subjects must receive a copy of the signed information/consent documentation.

Investigators must promptly also report to the HSREB:

- a) changes increasing the risk to the participant(s) and/or affecting significantly the conduct of the study;
- b) all adverse and unexpected experiences or events that are both serious and unexpected;
- c) new information that may adversely affect the safety of the subjects or the conduct of the study.

If these changes/adverse events require a change to the information/consent documentation, and/or recruitment advertisement, the newly revised information/consent documentation, and/or advertisement, must be submitted to this office for approval.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

Chair of HSREB: Dr. Joseph Gilbert FDA Ref. #: IRB 00000940

	Ethics Officer to Conta	ct for Further information	1	
Janice Sutherland (jsutherl@uwo.ca)	Elizabeth Wambolt (ewambolt@uwo.ca)	Grace Kelly (grace.kelly@uwo.ca)	Denise Grafton (dgrafton@uwo.ca)	
Т	his is an official document. Ple	ase retain the original in	your files.	cc: ORE File



Use of Human Participants - Ethics Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Joshua Shadd Review Number: 17358E Review Level: Delegated Approved Local Adult Participants: 21 Approved Local Minor Participants: 0 Protocol Title: What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life? Department & Institution: Family Medicine, University of Western Ontario Sponsor: Ethics Approval Date: August 08, 2011 Expiry Date: August 31, 2012 Documents Reviewed & Approved & Documents Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
Revised Study End Date	The study end date has been revised to June 30, 2012 to allow for project completion.	

This is to notify you that The University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice Practices: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has reviewed and granted approval to the above referenced revision(s) or amendment(s) on the approval date noted above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

The othics approval for this study shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request Form.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

The Chair of the HSREB is Dr. Joseph Gilbert. The UWO HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information

······		
Janice Sutherland	Grace Kelly	Shantel Walcott
(jsutherl@uwoca)	(grace.kelly@uwo.ca)	(swalcot@uwo.ca)

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

#### The University of Western Ontario Office of Research Ethics

Support Services Building Room 5150 • London, Ontario • CANADA - N6A 3K7

PH: 519-661-3036 • F: 519-850-2466 • ethics@uwo.ca • www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

## Appendix B: Semi-structured interview guide

Preamble read to all participants at the outset of the interview:

- Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview as part of a study entitled "Influences on Family Physicians' Patterns of Care for Community Patients at End of Life". As you are aware, your participation is completely voluntary and you may decline to answer a question, terminate the interview, or withdraw from the study at any time without repercussions. As described in the Letter of Information you have reviewed, today's interview will be audiorecorded for subsequent transcription, but you may ask for the recorder to be turned off at any time.
- Do you have any questions before we begin?

## \*\*\* Begin audio recording \*\*\*

Every family physician has developed distinctive patterns and structures to care for the needs of their patients. (Rural doctors practice differently than urban ones, physicians in solo practices have different structures and mechanisms than those in team settings.)

My goal in this study is to understand the diversity of ways in which family physicians organize their care for community patients at end of life. (Some do home visits, others do not. Some refer to community palliative care physicians, others prefer to follow their own patients. etc.)

In the next 45-60 minutes, I would like to get to know your pattern of practice and what has shaped it. It is this second part – understanding why you do things the way that you do – that is most interesting to me, but perhaps you could begin by giving me a brief overview of your practice as a whole.

- How long have you been at this practice?
- How large is your practice?
- Partners/team members?

Tell me what happens a patient of yours is approaching end of life and wishes to remain at home?

- Does it always work out this way?
- If they have questions or concerns, who do they call? What about evenings and weekend?

Okay, thank you for that. You have given me a good overview of your practice and the ways in which you address the needs of your community patients at end of life. Now I would like to move us to a different level of thinking about this. Help me understand why this is the pattern you have adopted. What has shaped this for you?

- There are other ways of doing things. What influenced you to adopt this particular pattern?
- Has it always been like this, or were there times or places that your pattern was different? Tell me about that.
- Tell me about the decision points. What were the junctures that led away from another pattern toward this one?
- Tell me the story of the person that has influenced you the most in this regard.
- To what degree is the pattern you described intentionally chosen by you, versus shaped by external factors? What external factors have come into play and how?
- Can you imagine other ways of organizing care for community patients at end of life?
- If you controlled the whole system, would your pattern of care for community patients at end of life look different? How?
- This sounds like a different pattern. How big a difference would this make for your patients? For you?
- What constrains you from moving toward this pattern of practice now?
- What would it take for you to change your pattern of practice for these patients?
- Do you find this aspect of your practice satisfying? What contributes to this sense of satisfaction? What detracts from it?
- If these supports didn't exist, how would it change your pattern of practice?
- Are there sacrifices you have made to sustain this pattern? (e.g. financial)
- What do you think are the implications of this practice pattern for your patients?

Additional prompts: I need to know more about why...? Why not do things...? Why is doing things like this important to you...? You sound like \_\_\_\_\_. Where does that come from?

Thank you for taking the time to talk today. Is there anything else you would like to add?

## \*\*\* Stop audio recording \*\*\*

> Thank you for your generous participation in this study.

## Appendix C: Participant family physicians' patterns of activities for community patients at end of life

#### **Participant A**

Profile: Male, late career, urban practice setting, adjunct academic appointment

*Locations of activities:* house calls, three long-term care homes, two hospitals (one acute care, one palliative care unit)

*Timing of activities:* dedicated half-days for house calls, group on-call coverage 0700h-0000h.

Purposes of activities\*: moderate range

"I'm still the one basically assessing symptoms and treating them."

"So when I do a consult...it's also educational for them [the referring family physician]."

"If that was like the model of practice [physician telephone support of nurse practitioners in the home so that physician house calls would not be necessary] I wouldn't look to change to that. I would still see my patients and go..."

"I like dealing with the families. I like helping them through it. I mean, getting the person from here to dead is one thing to do, but getting the family from here to them being dead is a whole other thing, which I find really fascinating."



\*Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

#### **Participant B**

Profile: Female, early career, urban practice setting, no academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls, hospital palliative care unit

*Timing of activities*: one flexible half-day per week for house calls, 24/7 group on-call coverage for PCU, personal 24/7 on-call coverage for community patients

*Purposes of activities\**: high range

"In the beginning it's more education...And near the end often I find myself being more just a supportive person..."

"You know that patients, they can hear you and they can sense your touch, which is comforting, so at that point I feel like that's my job, because they don't have their family members around that often."

"I can moisten their lips. I can put Vaseline on. I can make sure that their eyes are lubricated. Kind of like the nursing little bits..."



#### **Participant C**

Profile: Female, late career, rural practice setting, no academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls, two acute care hospitals

*Timing of activities*: one flexible half-day per week for house calls plus 'fit-in' after hours house calls, 24/7 group on-call coverage for hospital and community patients

#### Purposes of activities\*: moderate range

"In a situation with a palliative patient at home, I usually go in there on a regular basis, either weekly or every two weeks, or sometimes everyday depending on how much service they need."

"Sometimes when I can't get any straight answers the patients deteriorate, I have to admit them, and we start all over again... I'll admit them for a short quick visit; straighten out some medication; get in any consults I need, then have a team meeting before they go home so they know exactly what kind of things they're getting done."


#### **Participant D**

Profile: Female, early career, urban practice setting, full-time academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls, one acute care hospital

*Timing of activities*: regular 'fit-in' house calls, 24/7 group on-call coverage for hospital and community patients

Purposes of activities\*: moderate-high range

"If it's inevitable then we actually get them into the hospital and continue on that care with familiar faces till the inevitable happens. So, from that point of view, I feel that we can be there for them in many ways and that's a good, good thing for me, personally, and I think for the team also..."

"I call the patients by phone and, you know, touch base with them that way and tell them the resident would be coming or get feedback after the visit to see how the resident did."

"I feel sometimes that we don't quite understand them [our family practice patients] one hundred percent until you've actually seen them in their own surroundings... it takes your, your physician-patient relationship, I think, to the next level."

"I think we kind of motivate them without giving them false hope, and lead them to believe and pray and hope, which should always be there."



\*Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

## Participant E

Profile: Male, mid career, rural practice setting, no academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls

Timing of activities: occasional 'fit-in' house calls, no on-call coverage

*Purposes of activities\*:* moderate range

"I always offer that [a house call]... I leave that as an option and for a simple request I will do that."

"They [home care nurses] put a plan of action for everything and I sign it...it's just a matter of reading it and approving it."

"So, I mean being available just to arrange a paracentesis [by a physician in the emergency department] on a short notice that would be valuable in this situation."



<sup>\*</sup>Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

### **Participant F**

Profile: Male, mid career, urban practice setting, adjunct academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls

Timing of activities: occasional 'fit-in' house calls, group 24/7 on-call coverage

*Purposes of activities\*:* moderate range

"Part of what we need to do as family doctors, as one fellow colleague put it, is expectation management...I will sometimes ask, trying to bring the conversation around to death and dying."

"A lot of it, I think, that's what it's all about, it's kind of just reassuring people, right? And, then there's no urgency about it, you know?"

"I've had dying patients ask me about God, dying and death? How can you be that involved in people's lives and caring for them and not expect?"



<sup>\*</sup>Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

## **Participant G**

Profile: Male, mid career, urban practice setting, adjunct academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls

*Timing of activities*: one flexible half-day per week for house calls plus 'fit-in' after hours house calls, personal 24/7 on-call coverage for end of life care patients

Purposes of activities\*: low-moderate

"For me, it's important to just continue that line of care."

"So as long as I can hook in with the CCAC team, you know, I have a social worker who can provide some of the family supports. I have a nurse who can provide some good intervention. You know, I can provide good intervention... I have all the services I need."

"It's much, much more communication and it's not acutely fixing something. It's the symptom management side but a lot of it is also just preparing for the ultimate."



\*Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

#### **Participant H**

Profile: Female, early career, rural practice setting, adjunct academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls, long term care, acute care hospital

*Timing of activities*: 'open access' scheduling for all patients including house calls, group 24/7 on-call coverage for hospital and community patients

Purposes of activities\*: moderate range

"If they're in pain, I have a whole array of medications that I can use. And I can guarantee them that they'll be comfortable."

"I sit down and I learn more about, you know, what the family is like; what they do, what mom likes to do, what really she is passionate about."

"Even if the visit is 5 or 10 minutes and the patient's unconscious, I think the family really appreciates that and knows that their loved one is being cared for. Even if nothing has changed in the medication orders and everything else could have been done over the phone, that actual face to face visit with the patient or the family, I think it means a lot to patients and their families...to show that, 'Yes, I'm still your family physician. I will be here till the end. I care for you.""



\*Range of expressed roles and goals beyond medication prescribing for symptom management.

## **Participant I**

Profile: Male, late career, rural practice setting, adjunct academic appointment

Locations of activities: office, house calls, long term care, acute care hospital

*Timing of activities*: two flexible half-days per week for house calls, group 24/7 on-call coverage for hospital patients, personal 24/7 on-call coverage for community end of life patients

Purposes of activities\*: high range

"You sort of have to start to talk to them about those things [advance care planning]; and what needs to be in place; and how to help the family to transition."

"Now since I have the family health team, I mean I'll often involve our social worker as well to sort of go in and, you know, assess mood; assess what structures, supports are available for them at home."

"I think that sometimes I will initiate the EDITH [Expected Death in the Home protocol] and sometimes CCAC will initiate the EDITH. I think it depends on who thinks about it first."



# Appendix D: Literature search strategies and results

	MEDLINE Search Term(s)	# Results	
Topic 1 – Family physician provision of palliative care (with focus on interprofessional coordination)			
1.	exp Family Practice/ or exp General Practice/ or exp Physicians, Family/ or exp General Practitioners/ or exp Primary Health Care/	135 868	
2.	exp Palliative Care/ or exp Hospices/ or exp Hospice Care/ or exp Terminal Care/ or exp Terminally III/	72 100	
3.	1 and 2	1970	
4.	3 and English language	1742	
5.	Imported to RefWorks on basis of review of titles	296	
6.	Final papers included after review of abstract	187	
Тор	ic 2 – Comprehensiveness in family medicine		
1.	exp Family Practice/ or exp General Practice/ or exp Physicians, Family/ or exp General Practitioners/ or exp Primary Health Care/	135 868	
2.	comprehensive care.mp. or comprehensiveness.mp.	3 053	
3.	1 and 2	394	
4.	3 and English language	343	
5.	Imported to RefWorks on the basis of review of titles	32	
6.	Final papers included after review of abstract	19	
Topic 3 – Family physician work-life balance			
1.	exp Family Practice/ or exp General Practice/ or exp Physicians, Family/ or exp General Practitioners/ or exp Primary Health Care/	135 868	
2.	work life balance.mp.	244	
3.	1 and 2	24	
4.	3 and English language	21	
5.	Imported to RefWorks on the basis of review of titles	16	
6.	Final papers included after review of abstract	15	

All searches were most recently updated on July 26, 2012.

## Appendix E: REB approval for quantitative study

SEP 3 2004



#### Office of Research Ethics

The University of Western Ontario Room 00045 Dental Sciences Building, London, ON, Canada N6A 5C1 Telephone: (519) 661-3036 Fax: (519) 850-2466 Email: ethics@uwo.ca Website: www.uwo.ca/research/ethics

Use of Human Subjects - Ethics Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. M. Stewart Review Number: 10838E Revision Number: Protocol Title: A Profile of Family Physicians and Specialists in Southwestern Ontario Department and Institution: Family Medicine, University of Western Ontario Sponsor: MINISTRY OF HEALTH AND LONG-TERM CARE Approval Date: 31-Aug-04 End Date: 31-Mar-05 Documents Reviewed and Approved: UWO Protocol, Letters of Information

**Documents Received for Information:** 

This is to notify you that the University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Health Sciences Research Involving Human Subjects (HSREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement and the Health Canada/ICH Good Clinical Practice: Consolidated Guidelines; and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has received and granted expedited approval to the above named research study on the date noted above. The membership of this REB also complies with the membership requirements for REB's as defined in Division 5 of the Food and Drug Regulations.

This approval shall remain valid until end date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the HSREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information. If you require an updated approval notice prior to that time you must request it using the UWO Updated Approval Request Form.

During the course of the research, no deviations from, or changes to, the protocol or consent form may be initiated without prior written approval from the HSREB except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to the subject or when the change(s) involve only logistical or administrative aspects of the study (e.g. change of monitor, telephone number). Expedited review of minor change(s) in ongoing studies will be considered. Subjects must receive a copy of the signed information/consent documentation.

Investigators must promptly also report to the HSREB:

a) changes increasing the risk to the participant(s) and/or affecting significantly the conduct of the study;

b) all adverse and unexpected experiences or events that are both serious and unexpected;

c) new information that may adversely affect the safety of the subjects or the conduct of the study.

If these changes/adverse events require a change to the information/consent documentation, and/or recruitment advertisement, the newly revised information/consent documentation, and/or advertisement, must be submitted to this office for approval.

Members of the HSREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interset, do not participate in discussion related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the HSREB.

Chair of HSREB: Dr. Paul Harding

Karen Kueneman, BA (Hons), Ethics Officer HSREB (Expedited) E-mail: kueneman@uwo.ca

Faxed: YN Date:

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files. UWO HSREB Ethics Approval 10838E

Page 1 of 1

#### Variable Туре **Survey Question(s)** Variable Definition Eligibility Comprehensive Nominal **O25: TYPEMED** a) OR c) Do you practice (check ONE only): Family Physicians a) comprehensive family medicine (COMPALL) b) specialty family medicine c) both comprehensive and specialty family medicine Dependent Palliative care Nominal **Q28: PALLCARE** Positive response. (Absence of Thinking about your patient care response interpreted as settings OVERALL, which of the negative) following do you do, or provide, regularly? - Palliative care Any house calls Nominal **Q28: HOUSE** (ANYHOUSE) A) Thinking about your patient care Positive response to A) settings OVERALL, which of the following do you do, or provide, OR regularly? - House call service **072:HOUSECAL** B) >0 How many housecalls to a B) patient's residence do you usually make during your working week? Nominal **Q24: TELPTS** After-hours Positive response. (Absence of Below is a list of on-call activities. availability response interpreted as negative) Thinking about your patient care setting(s) OVERALL, please check all that apply. - Do on call for nonhospitalized patients, telephone availability and see patients as required. Ordinal Potential • High potential availability = Availability palliative care AND any (POTAVAIL) house calls AND available to see non-hospitalized patients after hours • Moderate potential availability = palliative care OR any house calls OR available to see nonhospitalized patients after hours • Low potential availability = NEITHER palliative care NOR house calls NOR

## Appendix F: Variable definitions

			available to see non- hospitalized patients after hours
Independent			
Family Physician	Characteristic	CS	
Age (AGE)	Continuous	<b>Q77: BIRTHYR</b> Your year of birth:	2004 – Year of birth
Gender	Nominal	<b>Q78: GENDER</b> Your gender: M/F	
Years in Practice (YEARS)	Continuous	<b>Q81: GRADYEAR</b> Date of your graduation with MD:	2004 – Year of graduation
Completed family medicine residency	Nominal	<b>Q83: FMRESID</b> Did you complete a family medicine residency?	
Additional palliative care training	Nominal	<b>Q84: TPALLCAR</b> Following completion of your internship or family medicine residency program, which of the following additional structured training have you received, if any? Please check all that apply. Palliative care	
International Medical Graduate	Nominal	<b>Q85: INTGRAD</b> Are you an international medical graduate?	
Attitude toward palliative care at home (ATTITUDE)	Continuous	<b>Q75: FPDYHOME</b> Please indicate your agreement or disagreement with each of the following statements (1 strongly agree – 4 strongly disagree): Family physicians should take responsibility for the care of their dying patients at home.	5 - FPDYHOME
Practice Characteristics			
Rural/urban ( <b>RURAL</b> )	Nominal	Q74: POPTYPE Please describe the population PRIMARILY served by you. a) Inner city b) urban/suburban c) small town d) rural e) geographically isolated/remote	Urban = a) OR b) Rural = c) OR d) OR e)

Solo/group (GROUP)	Nominal	Q11: PRACTYPE With respect to your MAIN patient care setting, how is the practice organized? a) Solo practice b) Family physician group practice c) Family physician/specialist group practice	Solo = a) Group = b) or c)
Remuneration (FFS vs. AFP) (ALTFUND)	Nominal	Q12: FHT, FHN, FHG, CHC, HSO OTHPAT Is you MAIN patient care setting a: a) Family health team b) Family health network c) Family health group d) Community Health Clinic e) Health services organization	Alternate Funding Plan (AFP) = a) OR b) OR c) OR d) OR e) Fee for service (FFS) = no response
Teaching practice (y/n) (ANYTEACH)	Nominal	<ul> <li>Q44: TEACH</li> <li>Are you currently teaching undergraduate medical students/residents?</li> <li>a) Yes, undergraduate medical students only</li> <li>b) Yes, residents only</li> <li>c) Yes, both undergraduate medical students and residents.</li> </ul>	Any teaching = a) OR b) OR c) No teaching = no response
Number patients/week	Continuous	<b>Q22: PTSSEEN</b> What is the usual number of patients seen in a full week of practice at your MAIN patient care setting? (<25, 25, 50, 75, 100, 125, 150, 175, 200, 225, 250+)	
≥1 free weekday clinical session (FREEDAY)	Nominal	<b>Q23: MONAM - FRIPM</b> Please indicate the number of hours each morning, afternoon and evening that you see patients.	Free weekday session IF 0 hours indicated for any morning or afternoon session Monday-Friday.
≥1 after hours clinical session (AHCLINIC)	Nominal	<b>Q23: MONEVE - SUNEVE</b> Please indicate the number of hours each morning, afternoon and evening that you see patients.	Scheduled after hours IF >0 hours indicated for any evening session Monday-Friday, OR morning, afternoon or evening session Saturday or Sunday

## Appendix G: Power calculation

The total sample size is 482 with alpha set at 0.05. The dependent variable type is ordinal.

### For dichotomous independent variables:

Calculation used in the study: 3x2 chi-square with unequal group sizes Analogy for power calculation: 3x2 chi-square assuming equal group sizes Degrees of freedom: 2 Power  $(1 - \beta)$ : 0.99999 for w=0.3 (moderate effect) 0.488 for w=0.1 (small effect)

### For continuous independent variables:

Calculation used in the study: Kruskal-Wallis Analogy for power calculation: ANOVA assuming equal group sizes Degrees of freedom: 2 Power (1- $\beta$ ): 0.99921 for f=0.25 (moderate effect) 0.486 for f=0.1 (small effect)

The calculations utilized to estimate power were the most similar to the actual study methods among the options available in the G-Power software program (Faul 2009).

Both power calculations are likely to underestimate the risk of type 2 error. For the dichotomous independent variables, this is because the power calculation assumes equal group sizes (which was not the case). For the continuous independent variables, the increased risk of a type 2 error is because the power calculation assumes equal group sizes and a normal distribution of the dependent variable (neither of which was the case).

There were no suitable analogies for estimating the power of multinomial logit procedures.

## Appendix H: Missing data analysis

- Comprehensive FPs with complete dependent variable data = 573
- Missing data on  $\geq 1$  independent variable data element: 91 (15.9%)
- Comprehensive FPs with complete data: 482

1. Do family physicians with missing values differ from family physicians with complete responses?

Variable	Туре	# Missing (% of N=583)	Statistic	p-Value
Potential availability	Ordinal	6 (1.0)	3x2 chi square	0.716
Family Physician Characteristics				
Age	Continuous	11 (1.9)	t-test	0.622
Gender	Nominal	2 (0.3)	chi square	0.064
Years in practice	Continuous	1 (0.2)	t-test	0.579
Completed family medicine residency	Nominal	1 (0.2)	chi square	0.841
Additional palliative care training	Nominal	$N\!/\!A^\dagger$	chi square	0.319
International medical graduate	Nominal	35 (6.1)	chi square	0.065
Attitude toward palliative care at home	Continuous	8 (1.4)	t-test	0.561
Practice Characteristics				
Rural/urban	Nominal	11 (1.9)	chi square	0.241
Solo/group	Nominal	16 (2.8)	chi square	0.294
Remuneration (FFS vs. AFP)	Nominal	$N\!/\!A^\dagger$	chi square	0.047*
Teaching practice (y/n)	Nominal	4 (0.7)	chi square	0.076
Number patients/week	Continuous	8 (1.4)	t-test	0.970
$\geq 1$ free weekday clinical session	Nominal	19 (3.3)	chi square	0.269
$\geq 1$ after hours clinical session	Nominal	19 (3.3)	chi square	0.313

<sup>†</sup> Due to format of survey questions for these items, absence of a response was automatically interpreted as negative, and thus there were no missing data for these items.

\*statistically significant at p < 0.05. Missing variable cases less likely to receive remuneration via an alternate funding plan.

2. Does exclusion of family physicians with missing values change the results on bivariable analysis?

Variable Туре Statistic p-Value when all p-Value when only comprehensive family comprehensive family physicians included and physicians with missing values ignored complete data included Family Physician Characteristics ANOVA 0.000\* 0.000\* Continuous Age Gender 0.000\* 0.000\* Nominal chi square Years in practice Continuous ANOVA 0.000\* 0.000\* Completed family Nominal chi square 0.105 0.226 medicine residency Additional palliative Nominal chi square 0.011\* 0.009\* care training International medical Nominal 0.139 0.079 chi square graduate Attitude toward Continuous ANOVA 0.000\* 0.000\* palliative care at home **Practice Characteristics** 0.000\*

\**statistically significant at p<0.05.* 

Rural/urban

Solo/group

vs. AFP)

(y/n)

Number

session

patients/week

>1 free weekday

 $\geq 1$  after hours clinical

clinical session

Remuneration (FFS

Teaching practice

Conclusion: Exclusion of cases with will not affect results.

Nominal

Nominal

Nominal

Nominal

Continuous

Nominal

Nominal

chi square

chi square

chi square

chi square

ANOVA

chi square

chi square

0.446

0.000\*

0.024\*

0.007\*

0.026\*

0.000\*

0.000\*

0.382

0.000\*

0.004\*

0.049\*

0.078

0.001\*

## Curriculum Vitae

## Joshua David Shadd

## **APPOINTMENTS AND POSITIONS HELD**

Canada

## **Current Appointments**

2009 – present	Assistant Professor, Centre for Studies in Family Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, The University of Western Ontario
2011 – present	Physician, London Health Sciences Centre, Department of Family Medicine, Parkwood Hospital, Attending Medical Staff
2009 – present	Physician, London Health Sciences Centre, Department of Family Medicine, Palliative Medicine
2010 - present	Scientist, Lawson Health Research Institute, London, Ontario, Canada
Previous Ap	pointments
2006 - 2009	Attending Medical Staff, Kingston General Hospital, Hotel Dieu Hospital, Providence Continuing Care Centre, Kingston Regional Cancer Centre, Family Medicine, Oncology, Kingston, Ontario, Canada
2006 - 2009	Assistant Professor, Queen's University School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Kingston, Ontario, Canada
2005	Lecturer, University of Manitoba, Department of Family Medicine, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada
2005	Consultant Staff, Winnipeg Regional Health Authority, Palliative Care Medicine Program, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada
2005	Attending Medical Staff, St. Boniface Hospital, Riverview Health Centre, Family Medicine, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada
2004	Family Physician, Winnipeg, Manitoba
2002 - 2003	Family Physician, Pickle Lake Medical Clinic, Pickle Lake, Ontario, Canada
2001 - 2002	Family Physician, Steinbach Medical Clinic, Steinbach, Manitoba, Canada
2001 - 2002	Attending Medical Staff, Bethesda Hospital, Steinbach, Manitoba,

## EDUCATION AND QUALIFICATIONS

### **Degrees and Diplomas**

2008 - present	MClSc, University of Western Ontario, Master's Thesis, Clinical Science in Family Medicine, London, Ontario, Canada
1995 - 1999	MD, Queen's University School of Medicine, Kingston, Ontario
1992 - 1995	BSc, University of Western Ontario, Biology, Bachelor's Equivalent, graduated with distinction, London, Ontario
Specialized	Training
1999 - 2001	Residency, Queen's University School of Medicine, Family Medicine, Kingston, Ontario
2004	Fellowship, University of Manitoba, Palliative Medicine, Winnipeg, Manitoba

## **RESEARCH AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES**

#### Grants (since 2008)

2013 - 2015	Co-Investigator, Palliative care on the heart failure care team: Mapping
	patient and provider experiences and expectations, PI: Lingard L,
	Canadian Institutes of Health Research Operating Grant, Funded,
	232,048 CAD
	Canadian Institutes of Health Research Operating Grant, Funded, 232,048 CAD

- 2012 2013 Co-Principal Investigator, Palliative care on the heart failure care team: Mapping patient and provider experiences and expectations, to inform guideline implementation, PI: Schultz V, AHSC AFP Innovation Fund, Funded, 143,587 CAD
- 2012 2014 Co-Principal Investigator, Rates of Referral from Family Physicians to Specialist Physicians in a National Primary Care Electronic Medical Record Database, PI: Shadd J, Lawson Health Research Institute, Funded, 14,910 CAD
- 2011 2012 Co-Applicant, Community-based End of Life Care: Toward an interdisciplinary, cross-jurisdictional program of research, PI: Bruge F, Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Funded, 23,960 CAD
- 2011 Co-Investigator, Understanding the current use of urinary catheters on a palliative care unit, PI: Faulds C, Funded, 18,760 CAD

2011	Principal Investigator, Hospice Palliative Care in the South West LHIN - Current Needs and Activities, PI: Shadd J, Funded, 3,900 CAD
2011 - 2012	Principal Investigator, Neuropathic pain in a primary care electronic medical record database. PI: Shadd J, Research grant Neuropathic Pain Database in Primary Care (NePDAT-P) held by Dr. Dwight Moulin at Lawson Health Research Institute, Funded, 27,165 CAD
2010 - 2011	Principal Investigator, What shapes family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life? PI: Shadd J, UWO Department of Family Medicine Research Trust Fund, Funded, 1,526 CAD
2010	Co-Principal Investigator, Patterns of Specialty Medical Referral in a Primary Care Electronic Medical Record Database. PI: Shadd J & Ryan BL (Co-PIs), Primary Health Care System Program, Funded, 14,719 CAD
2009	Principal Investigator, FIFE - Then What? PI: Shadd J. CFPC Research & Education Foundation, Janus Research Proposal Development Grant, Funded, 1,500 CAD
2008 - 2009	Co-Investigator, Mentoring Interprofessional Primary Health Care Teams in Collaborative Palliative Care Practice - Phase 3, PI: Dudgeon D, MOHLTC / Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities Interprofessional Care/Education Fund (ICEF), Funded, 403,005 CAD

## HONOURS AND AWARDS

2012	St. Joseph's Health Care Professional Staff Organization Recognition & Reward Award, For demonstrating the values of the Professional Staff Organization by excellence in clinical care, teaching, research, and administration
2010 - 2011	Martin J Bass Award for Postgraduate Studies in Family Medicine, For an outstanding student in the Masters of Clinical Science program in the Department of Family Medicine, 2,000, Type: Distinction, Local, Family Medicine, London, Ontario, Canada
2010	Dean's Award of Excellence, Team Award for the Centre for Studies in Family Medicine, Type: Distinction, Co-recipient, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario
1996	MRC Student Research Scholarship, Type: Research award, Medical Research Council of Canada

1996	Harvey Sullivan Scholarship, Type: Distinction, Victoria Hospital Foundation
1995	Robert Bruce Scholarship, Type: Distinction, Faculty of Medicine, Queen's University
1995	Edgar Forrester Scholarship, Type: Distinction, Faculty of Medicine, Queen's University

## **PUBLICATIONS**

## **Peer Reviewed Publications (since 2008)**

- Shadd J, Burge F, Stajduhar KI, Sohen SR, Kelley ML, Pesut B. It's time to define and measure - a palliative approach in primary care. Canadian Family Physician. Principal Author (*In press*)
- Lingard L, McDougall A, Schulz V, Shadd J, Marshal D, Strachan PH, Tait G, Malcolm A, Kimel G. Understanding palliative care on the heart failure care team: An innovative research methodology. Accepted by Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. Coauthor (*In press*)
- 3. Terry AL, Cejic S, Ryan BL, **Shadd JD**, Stewart M, Fortin M, Thind A. You and your EMR: the research perspective: Part 4. Optimizing EMRs in primary health care practice and research. Can Fam Physician. 2012 Jun;58(6):705-6. **Coauthor**
- 4. **Shadd JD**, Cejic S, Terry A, Ryan BL, Stewart M, Thind A. You and your EMR: the research perspective: part 3. Answering practice-level questions. Can Fam Physician. 2012 Mar;58(3):344-5. **Principal Author**
- 5. Ryan BL, **Shadd JD**, Terry A, Cejic S, Chevendra V, Thind A. You and your EMR: the research perspective: part 2. How structure matters. Can Fam Physician. 2011 Dec;57(12):1473-4. **Coauthor**
- 6. Ryan BL, Cejic S, **Shadd JD**, Terry A, Chevendra V, Thind A. You and your EMR: the research perspective: Part 1. Selecting and implementing an EMR. Can Fam Physician. 2011 Sep;57(9):1090-1. **Coauthor**
- Corkum M, Viola R, Veenema C, Kruszelnicki D, Shadd J. Prognosticating in Palliative Care: A Survey of Canadian Palliative Care Physicians. J Palliat Care. 2011 Summer;27(2):89-97. Coauthor
- 8. **Shadd J**, Ryan BL, Maddocks H, Thind A. Patterns of Referral in a Canadian Primary Care Electronic Health Record Database: Retrospective Cross-Sectional Analysis. Inform Prim Care. 2011 Jul;19(4):217-23. **Principal Author**

- 9. Shadd J. Pregabalin for Neuropathic Pain: Breakthrough or Me-Too? Canadian Journal of Diagnosis, 2008; 25(10): 71-73. Principal Author
- Shadd J. Should Palliative Care be a Specialty?: Yes. Canadian Family Physician, 2008; 54(6): 840-842. (Follow-up publicatons: Rebuttal; 54(7): 974. Letter to the Editor; 54(9): 1231). Principal Author

## **Non-Peer Reviewed Publications (since 2008)**

- 1. Murray K, Shadd J. Dying Causes Delirium! CARE Magazine, College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta. 2012; 26(1): 26-27. Coauthor
- 2. Murray K, **Shadd J**. Nausea and vomiting. CARE Magazine, College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta. 2011; 25(3): 26-27. **Coauthor**
- Shadd J, Brown JB. Component III: Finding Common Ground. Unexplored Territory

   Part 1. In: Brown JB, Thornton T, Stewart M, editors. Challenges and Solutions: Narratives of Patient-Centered Care. London, UK: Radcliffe Publishing; 2011. p126-128. Principal Author
- Shadd J. Component I: Exploring Health, Disease and the Illness Experience. Frozen. In: Brown JB, Thornton T, Stewart M, editors. Challenges and Solutions: Narratives of Patient-Centered Care. London, UK: Radcliffe Publishing; 2011. P. 20-23. Principal Author
- Shadd J, Brown JB. Component IV: Enhancing the Patient-Doctor Relationship. Unexplored Territory - Part 2. In: Brown JB, Thornton T, Stewart M, editors. Challenges and Solutions: Narratives of Patient-Centered Care. London, UK: Radcliffe Publishing; 2011. p136-137. Principal Author
- 6. Dudgeon D & **Shadd J**. Palliative Care: Dyspnea. In: UpToDate, Rose, BD (Ed), UpToDate, Waltham, MA, 2011. [ebook]. **Coauthor**
- 7. **Shadd J**, Ryan BL, Thind A, Stewart M. Patterns of Specialty Medical Referral -Analysis of a Primary Health care Electronic Record Database. Report submitted to PHCS, Government of Ontario, 2010. **Principal Author**
- Davidson L & Shadd J. Introduction of an ungraded portfolio: what teachers can learn about students. In: Van Melle E, Pinchin S, McEwen L, & Alexander L, editors. Learning from Each Other: A Compendium of Innovative Teaching Strategies. Office of Health Science Education, Faculty of Health Sciences, Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario, January, 2010, 8D; p. 55-56. Co-Principal Author
- 9. Shadd J & Dudgeon D. Dyspnea. In: Palliative Medicine, Walsh D, editor; Elsevier, Philladelphia, 2009, p. 877-881. Principal Author

### **Poster Presentations**

- 2012/10/10 19th International Congress on Palliative Care, Presenters: Byrne J, Whitfield P, Woolmore-Goodwin S, Gutmanis I, Shadd J, Faulds C. Understanding the use of urinary catheters on a palliative care unit: preliminary results, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Presenter
- 2012/04/29 Annual Hospice Palliative Care Ontario Conference 2012, Presenters: Piamonte M, **Shadd J**. Prioritizing Measures of Hospice Palliative Care: Stakeholder Input into a Regional Overview Document. Toronto, Ontario, Canada, **Presenter**
- 2011/06/08 2011 Trillium Primary Health Care Research Day. Presenters: Ryan BL, Shadd J, Maddocks H, Thind A. Variance Partitioning in Referral Patterns: Patient or Practice? Toronto, Ontario, Canada
- 2010/10/28 The Canadian Hospice Palliative Care Association Annual Conference, Presenters: **Shadd J**. Family Physician Engagement in Community Palliative Care, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, **Presenter**
- 3rd Annual St. Joesph's Care Group, Showcase of Applied Health Research, Presenters: Green E, Coulson K, Sanders J, Kelley ML, Marshall D, Pisco L, Rush B, Schroder C, Shadd J, Moxam RS, Taniguchi A, Tomalty L, Van Dijk J, Durkin L, & Dudgeon D. Mentoring primary health care nurse practitioners: Family physician dyads in collaborative palliative care practice, Thunder Bay, Ontario, Presenter
- 2009/03 Palliative Medicine and Supportive Oncology 2009, Presenters: Hallelujah P & **Shadd J**. Is There a Work of Dying? Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, United States, **Presenter**
- Palliative Medicine 2008, Presenters: Shadd J, Cahill C, Davidson L, Hobbs N, Pinchin S, Schroder C, & Van Melle E. Pain as a Thread: Toward a Progressive Integrated Collaborative Pain Curriculum, Scottsdale, Arizona, United States, Speaker

## **Oral Research Abstracts**

- 2012/10/10 19th International Congress on Palliative Care, Presenters: Shadd JD.
   What Shapes Family Physicians' Pattern of Care for Community Patients at End of Life? A Grounded Theory Study. Research Forum Presentation, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Presenter
- 2012/06/07 Canadian Society of Palliative Care Physicians, Presenters: **Shadd JD**. What Shapes Family Physicians' Pattern of Care for Community Patients at End of Life? A Grounded Theory Study. Emerging Scientific Abstract

Presentation at the 8th Annual Advanced Learning in Palliative Medicine Conference, Kingston, Ontario, Canada, **Presenter** 

- 2012/06/06 2012 Trillium Primary Health Care Research Day. Presenters: Ryan BL, Shadd JD, McKay S, Maddocks H. Estimating the prevalence of neuropathic pain in a primary care electronic medical record database. Toronto, Ontario, Canada
- 2010/11/16 2010 Annual Meeting of the North American Primary Care Research Group, Presenters: Ryan B, **Shadd J**, Thind A, Stewart M, Maddocks H. Specialist Referrals from Family Physicians: Who and How Many? Seattle, Washington, United States, **Presenter**
- 2010/11/14 2010 Annual Meeting of the North American Primary Care Research Group, Presenters: **Shadd J**. Family Physician Engagement in Community Palliative Care. Seattle, Washington, United States, **Speaker**
- 2011/10/04 Presenters: McDougall A, Lingard L, Arnold JMO, **Shadd J**, Shultz V, Stewart M, Patient-centred sampling units: An innovative methodological practices for studying healthcare teams. Centre for Education Research & Innovation Third Annual Research Symposium, Western University. London, Ontario, Canada, **Presenter**
- 2011/06/08 2011 Trillium Primary Health Care Research Day. Presenters: **Shadd J**, Maddocks MA, McKay S, Ryan BL. Neuropathic pain in a primary care electronic medical record database: Looking for a condition not coded in ICD or ICPC, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, **Speaker**
- 2010/06/09 Trillium Primary Care Research Forum 2010, Presenters: Shadd J, Ryan BL, Maddocks HL, Thind A, & Stewart M. Family Physician Referral Patterns: Who's Sending Who to Whom? Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Speaker
- 2010/06/09 Trillium Primary Care Research Forum 2010, Presenters: **Shadd J**. Factors Affecting Family Physician Provision of Palliative Care, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, **Speaker**
- 2009/04/20 Provincial Hospice Palliative Conference 2009, Presenters: Yuen H & Shadd J. Illness Trajectories: Knowledge & Attitudes of Junior Housestaff and Attending Physicians, Toronto, Ontario, Presenter

### Other

2012/10/09 International Primary Palliative Care Research Group, Presenters: Shadd JD, Family physicians' patterns of care for community patients at end of life. Presentation to the IPPCRG Annual Meeting, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, Presenter

- 2011/06/24 Brazilian Society of Family and Community Medicine, Presenters: Shadd
   J. Theoretical Foundations of Family Medicine. 11th Brazilian Congress of Family and Community Medicine. Brasilia, Brazil, Invited Speaker
- 2011/06/23 Brazilian Society of Family and Community Medicine, Presenters: Brown JB, **Shadd J**. Patient-Centred Medicine: A Mini-Course, 11th Brazilian Congress of Family and Community Medicine, Brasilia, Brazil, **Invited Speaker**
- 2011/05/19 MOHLTC Primary Health Care System Program, Presenters: Shadd J, Ryan BL, Patterns of specialty medical referral: Analysis of a primary health care electronic medical record database, Kingston, Ontario, Canada, Invited Speaker
- 2009/04/20 Provincial Hospice Palliative Conference 2009, Presenters: **Shadd J**. Toward a Theoretical Framework for Hospice Palliative Care, Toronto, Ontario, **Speaker**